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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

VITESHES

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Capital VC
Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong as CNI VC Limited)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), it
is my pleasure to present you the Group’s audited annual results
for the year ended 30 September 2018 (the “Year” or “Fiscal Year
2017/18").

BUSINESS REVIEW, IMPORTANT EVENTS
OCCURRED AFTER THE END OF FINANCIAL
YEAR AND PROSPECT

Consistent with previous year, the overall stock market in Hong
Kong continued to behave unstable in the fiscal year 2017/18.
Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) experienced encouraging rising early
this Year and climbed over 33,000 points in January 2018, from
27,554 points as at 30 September 2017. However, the booming
situation cannot be sustained and in June 2018, HSI fell sharply
from the highest point of 31,521 points to 27,788 points on the last
trading day of the Year, in less than four months. In such unstable
market environment, the Group’s listed securities, mainly small-
mid cap stocks, performed not very satisfactory and recorded loss
on listed securities of approximately HK$194.8 million. Even so, as
compared to the trading loss on listed securities of approximately
HK$525.5 million for the year ended 30 September 2017, this
year’s loss has reduced significantly.

In connection with the Group’s principal unlisted investments,
the Group disposed of 29 shares or 29% of the share capital
of Uni-Venture International Investment Limited (“Uni-Venture”)
at a consideration of HK$40.0 million during the Year, and gain
on disposal of HK$5.5 million was recorded. Uni-Venture group
is engaged in the business of provision of workforce solutions
on manpower sourcing, training and recruitment services. In
addition, the Group’s investment in bonds issued by Rich Circle
Investment Limited was matured in August 2018 and the Group
has redeemed that bond with its 4% coupons. During the Year,
the Group has acquired two bonds. One of them was issued by
Hao Wen Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
with bond size of HK$30 million and coupon of 11%. Another was
issued by Sincere Smart International Limited (“SSIL”). The bond
size and coupon rate of SSIL bonds are HK$30 million and 12%
respectively. SSIL and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
software application industry. Together with the bonds issued by
Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited, the maturity date of which was
extended to 11 September 2020, the Group held bonds at fair
value of approximately HK$120.3 million. The Board consider bond
investments are satisfactory investments, which can bring steady
income flows to the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

PITESHRES

As mentioned in the section “Financial Review” in this report,
the Group recorded impairment loss on unlisted investments
of approximately HK$41.8 million, which was principally the
impairment losses on the Group’s investments in Kendervon
Profits Inc. (“Kendervon”) of approximately HK$24.4 million and
Merit Advisory Limited (“Merit Advisory”) of approximately HK$10.1
million. Kendervon is an unlisted investment holding company,
holding 30% equity interest of its associate, CNI Bullion Limited,
which is principally engaged the provision of services on trading
of gold in gold market. As mentioned in last year’s annual report,
the business of gold trading has been very keen in the Hong Kong
market. As such, loss on fair value of the Group’s investment in
Kendervon was recorded in the current year. Merit Advisory and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in investor relationship
service. Merit Advisory is an unlisted company. Owing to the
decrease of corporate activities of many listed companies in Hong
Kong in the Year, the financial results and its forecast of Merit
Advisory group were affected negatively, which resulted in the loss
on fair value of the Group’s investment in Merit Advisory in the
current year.

There is no important events affecting the Group which
occurred since the end of the year ended 30 September 2018.

Looking forward, we expect the global investment environment
will not be as good as that in prior years. The mist of trade war
between China and the United States affects both capital market
and economic growth worldwide significantly. Accordingly, we,
the Directors, consider that the change of global investment
environment is much faster than that in the couple of years before,
due to unstable political atmosphere, and we will continue to adopt
cautious measures to manage the Group’s investment portfolio.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express our
gratitude to all management team and staff members for their
dedication and contribution in the Fiscal Year 2017/18. We would
also like to extend our sincere thanks and appreciation to our
shareholders and business partners for their continued support to
as well as their confidence in the Group.

Chan Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 December 2018
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
EERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kong Fanpeng (“Mr. Kong”), aged 50, has been an
Executive Director since 18 March 2010. He obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Finance and Auditing from Zhongshan University, the
PRC. Mr. Kong was a manager of Huizhou TCL Information System
Limited and Guangzhou Bada Telecommunications Limited. He
also worked as the general manager of the PRC market and an
executive director respectively at Chief Securities Limited in Hong
Kong and Excalibur Securities Limited in (now known as “Delta
Wealth Securities Limited”) Hong Kong, specialising in risk averse
arbitrage trading in both Shenzhen and Hong Kong capital market.
Mr. Kong was the chairman and an executive director of Shenzhen
Wansheng Investment Management Company Limited. He has a
wealth of experience in the Hong Kong securities market for over
25 years and is well versed in investment in the second board
market in both China and Hong Kong. Mr. Kong is the chief partner
of Shenzhen CAS Bright Stone Investment Management Limited.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 54, has been
an Executive Director since 21 November 2012. He is one of
the responsible officers of China Everbright Securities (HK)
Limited. Mr. Chan is currently a licensed person to carry out type
1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts),
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of the University of South Florida in the
United States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in
securities, fund management, corporate management, corporate
finance and managing listed investment companies under Chapter
21 of the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
EEEE

Since June 2003, Mr. Chan joined China Innovation Investment
Limited (stock code: 1217), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, as executive director. Mr. Chan was appointed
as an executive director of China Investment and Finance Group
Limited (stock code: 1226), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, in March 2011. Mr. Chan was appointed as an
executive director of China Investment Development Limited (stock
code: 204), an investment company listed on the Stock Exchange,
in May 2012. Mr. Chan was also appointed as an executive
director of China New Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80), an
investment company listed on the Stock Exchange, in June 2013.
Mr. Chan was appointed as an executive director of China Trends
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8171), the shares of which are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange in February 2016. Mr. Chan
was appointed as an executive director of National Investment
Fund Limited (stock code: 1227), an investment company listed on
the Stock Exchange, in November 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Ming Gin (“Mr. Lee”), aged 33, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 6 March
2013. Mr. Lee holds a Bachelor Degree of Quantitative Finance
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lee is experienced
in securities, insurance advisory and fund management having
been working for several wealth and asset management firms.
Mr. Lee was a continuous education training tutor and is currently
a director of the Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong,
and his professional qualifications include Certified Financial
Consultant, Certified Financial Planner and member of the Hong
Kong Securities Institution.

Ms. Lai Fun Yin, aged 34, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 27 June
2017. She has over 6 years solid sales and marketing experience
in travel industry.

Mr. Cheung Wai Kin, aged 37, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
27 September 2017. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and he has over 12 years accounting
and auditing experience.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENRR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 30 September 2018, the Group reported a
negative turnover of approximately HK$179.8 million (Year ended
30 September 2017 (“Year 2017”): HK$516.2 million) and net loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$244 .4 million (Year 2017: HK$588.0 million). During the Fiscal
Year 2017/18, the decrease in Group’s loss on financial asset
investments led to decrease in loss of approximately HK$330.7
million from HK$525.5 million in Year 2017 to HK$194.8 million in
the Year.

In connection with the unlisted investments, the Group
recorded a loss of approximately HK$41.8 million during the Year
(Year 2017: 41.9 million). Please refer to the section “Business
Review, Important Events Occurred after the end of Financial Year
and Prospect” in this report for further details.

As a result of the unsatisfactory performance of listed and
unlisted financial assets investments, the Group recorded net loss
of approximately HK$244.4 million for the Year. Even so, the loss
was significantly reduced as compared to that for Year 2017 of
approximately HK$588.0 million.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 September 2018, the Group held assets of
approximately HK$751.5 million (2017: HK$1,014.0 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of HK56.9 million (2017:
HK$52.2 million). The Group’s current ratio (as defined by current
assets/current liabilities) increased from 35.8 as at 30 September
2017 to 43.0 as at 30 September 2018, which was maintained at
a healthy level. The Board believes that the Group has sufficient
resources to satisfy its working capital requirement.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/
total equity) was 0.96% (2017: 2.4%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF R DT

Capital Structure

The Company did not run any capital exercise during the Year.
During the year ended 30 September 2018, the share capital of the
Company remained unchanged and comprised of 2,754,882,496
issued shares with par value of HK$0.025 each.

Significant Investments

Significant investments of the Group are included in the
Group’s top ten investments as detailed in notes 18 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Dividend Policy

It is the Board’s intention to distribute any excess balance by
way of dividend to the extent permitted by law, the Memorandum
and the Articles. Dividends will only be paid to the extent that they
are covered by net income received from underlying investments.
Distribution will be made annually after the annual accounts of the
Company are approved by the shareholders but interim distribution
may be made from time to time to shareholders as appear to the
Board to be justified by the position of the Company. Distributions
will be made in Hong Kong dollars.

As the Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio, the declaration of future dividends will be subject
to the decision by the Board and will depend on, among other
things, the earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and
availability, the availability of funds to meet the financial covenants
of the Group’s bank loans (if applicable) and any other factors that
our Directors may consider relevant.

Capital Commitment and Operating Lease Commitment
As at 30 September 2018, the Group had no material
commitment.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 September 2018, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENRR DM

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises
from its investments in companies located in the PRC, which
are financed internally. In order to mitigate the potential impact
of currency fluctuations, the Group closely monitors its foreign
currency exposures and will use suitable hedging instruments
against significant foreign currency exposures, where necessary.
No foreign currency hedge contract was entered into by the Group
during the Year. As at 30 September 2018, the Group had no
outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (30 September 2017:
Nil).

Human Resources

As at 30 September 2018, the Group had 6 employees
excluding the Directors. Total staff costs excluding Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$3.0 million.
They perform clerical, research, business development and
administrative functions for the Group. The Group’s remuneration
policies are in line with the prevailing market practice and the staff
remuneration is determined on the basis of the performance and
experience of individual employees.

Material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the Year, the Company does not have any significant
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

Charge of Assets

As at 30 September 2018, the Group had pledged financial
assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$313.0 million to secure the
margin payables.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) in its
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) sets out two levels of corporate governance
practices, namely, mandatory CG Code provisions that a listed
company must comply with or explain its non-compliance, and
recommended best practices that listed companies are encouraged
to comply with but need not disclose in the case of non-
compliance. The Company is in compliance with the mandatory CG
Code provisions, save for the deviations discussed below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders.

The Board comprises two Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors during the year ended
30 September 2018 (the “Year” or “Fiscal Year 2017/18"). The
Board has appointed Committees to oversee different areas of
the Company’s affairs. The composition of the Board and the
Committees are given below and their respective responsibilities
are discussed in this report.

The number of Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and
General Meetings attended by each Director during the Year is set
out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates maximum
number of meetings in the period in which the individual was a
Board Member or Committee Member (as the case may be).
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Board
Meetings
Exg
Name of Director EEfS EE ]
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Kong Fanpeng AL 22/(22)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREZLLE 22/(22)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkYTES
Mr. Lee Ming Gin THERE 23/(23)
Ms. Lai Fun Yin REELT 23/(23)
Mr. Cheung Wai Kin REREE 23/(23)

The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other. Each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has confirmed in writing their
independence from the Company in accordance with the guidelines
on director independence of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the
Company considers all such Directors to be independent.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company as at the
date of this report are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.
Given the composition of the Board and the skills, knowledge
and expertise of the Directors, the Board believes that it is
appropriately structured to provide sufficient checks and balances
to protect the interests of the Group and the shareholders. The
Board will review its composition regularly to ensure that it has the
appropriate balance of expertise, skills and experience to continue
to effectively oversee the business of the Company.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board
of Directors on recommendation of the Remuneration Committee
with the reference to their respective duties and responsibility with
the Company, the Company’s performance and current market
situation. Details of emoluments of the Directors for the Period are
disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

A Director may be appointed either by the shareholders in
a general meeting or by the Board on recommendation of the
Nomination Committee. The Board takes into account criteria
such as expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when
considering a new appointment.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
(“Articles”), all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meetings of the Company. New
Directors appointed by the Board during the Year, if any, are
required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first
annual general meeting immediately following their appointments.
Further, at each annual general meeting, not less than one-third
of the Directors or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not exceeding one-third are required to
retire from office.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same person. Decisions of the Company are
made collectively by the executive Directors. The Board believes
that this arrangement enables the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve the Company’s
objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing
environment. The Board also believes that the Company already
has a strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure
effective oversight of management.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
CG Code provision A.4.1 requires that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election.
Currently all non-executive Directors (i.e. independent non-
executive Directors) have no specific term of appointment but
they are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Articles. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of this CG Code provision.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
Company Secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.

Pursuant to CG Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. During the Year, all
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities either by attending training courses or by
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the
Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Yuet Ching has been the Company Secretary of
the Company since July 2017. Ms. Chan is a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She reports to the
Executive Directors and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. During the Year, Ms. Chan undertook over 15 hours
of professional training to update her skill and knowledge.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the Board
comprises all three independent non-executive Directors and is
currently chaired by Mr. Cheung Wai Kin, who possesses extensive
financial and accounting experience in commercial sectors. It is
responsible for appointment of external auditors, review of the
Group’s financial information and oversight of the Group’s financial
reporting system and risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing
the interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending
them to the Board for approval. The results for the Year has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee. It meets regularly to review
financial reporting, risk management and internal control matters
and to this end has unrestricted access to personnel, records and
external auditors and senior management.

14 EEEBERAT | CAPITAL VC LIMITED

EEEI

ERHERRERIZ —Ho REANETHHE
BESETMARLTAAREMEREEREZ &N
BREN UEREZ2BEFTETEHERE-EFEY
BE2REEHEIREMEHEREZERERIBIR
B ERBEEXREREI M-

RIELETAEAESF EFTESAKEFRE
F-BERIEFMANBRZRE UABFREEEETAR
EEHEMMIAABENBERTHEZSELRER R
AFEE 2RBEFHEBHFERIREXMELRQ A
EBNEERELBEREERZTAZBEGE 2R
BEXBEREIED-

DNEME
RBLETE - Z—tFLARBEERRBTZA

ANE- RULTREBEEGHMAGEE -RAMNTE

FER YHHEFTSERRDBEF - RAFE R

IO 2EBIBISE 2ERXIFI AEFEREE

F 7

EREEE

EFgcERZBe ([ERZEg ) aaiA=
E2BUFATESAR ETFERA/REFREE K
AEBFLEC ARV BEAER -EREEQ8E
SNERZEM R BHAKRBECUBENREER
5 8 2 7% B R ) R A N L B B e 7R R AR A o)
ERZEENAEETAAEETHRRYEERT A
EFEefH RS A ERERE -EREZE e &
MAFEXE BRZBEEHRETERUAEMAMK
Rl REREERAMECHEEE LA ARG M
BT EA B - HIS A BB R0 8 A K32 8 51 B A 2R
SRERE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference
which are of no less exacting terms than those stipulated in CG
Code Provisions. In the Fiscal Year 2017/18, the Audit Committee
held two meetings. At the meetings, it reviewed the final results
and accounts for the Year ended 30 September 2018, and the
interim results and accounts for the six months ended 31 March
2018 and financial reporting system, and risk management and
internal control systems. It also reviewed the Company’s progress
in implementing the corporate governance requirements as set out
in the CG Code.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee, comprises all three Independent
Non-executive Directors and is responsible for reviewing and
determining the compensation and benefits of the Directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Independent Non-executive Director Mr. Lee Ming Gin. The
Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of reference
which are of no less exacting terms than those stipulated in CG
Code Provisions.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee, comprises all three Independent
Non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Lee Ming Gin. The
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and
selecting or making recommendations to the Board on selection of
individual nominated for directorships; making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and
the Chief Executive; and determining the policy for nomination of
directors. The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of
reference which are of no less exacting terms than those stipulated
in CG Code Provisions.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors
and measureable objectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural background, educational background, skills,
knowledge and professional experience. All Board appointments
will be based on merit, and candidates will be measured against
objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board. The Nomination Committee has the delegated
responsibilities to monitor the implementation and review the board
diversity policy and report to the Board.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee, which comprises all Executive
Directors, is responsible for formulating investment policies and
reviewing and determining the investment portfolio of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the CG Code provision D.3.1.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, continuous professional development of
Directors, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of accounts for each financial period with a view to ensuring
such accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. The
Company’s accounts are prepared in accordance with all relevant
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments
and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
systems of risk management and internal controls of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implementing
effective and sound systems to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the assets of the Group. These risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage risks rather
than eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objective, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss; and to ensure the reliability of
financial information for both internal use and external publication
and to provide reasonable assurance against material statement or
loss and achievement of the Group’s objective.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the business
and operations, relevant internal control procedures have been set
up for safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting
records and ensuring the reliability of financial information used
for business and publication. These procedures are monitored and
reviewed from time to time and updated where necessary.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
» Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key processes
of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
» Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

» Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.
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Risk Response
» Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

* Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

* Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

* Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation;
and

* Report the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The management has carried out periodic review of the
procedures and the implementation of the risk management and
internal control (“RM and IC”) systems, including areas covered
accounting, business and legal compliance.

To further strengthen the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the Company has engaged independent
professional advisers (the “System Advisers”) to carry out the
internal audit functions and also perform independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC
systems. The System Advisers have conducted an annual review
of and made recommendations to improve the effectiveness of the
Group’s RM and IC systems (the “RM and IC Review”).
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During the year ended 30 September, 2018, the Audit
Committee, with the assistance of the System Advisers, reviewed
the efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC Systems
in various aspects including revenue and receipt cycle, cash
management and treasury cycle and financial reporting cycle. The
System Advisers carried out the RM and IC Review on the above
cycles and executed the RM and IC Review which involves the
following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management and staff
members relating to the risk management and internal
controls

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the RM and IC Review

3. Reviewing relevant documentation relating to the RM and
IC Review

4. ldentifying significant deficiencies in the design of the risk
management and internal controls

5. Communicate the significant findings with the management
so as to confirm the factual accuracy of the findings. After
the RM and IC Review, the management provided an action
plan so as to mitigate those identified deficiencies in a
timely manner. All internal control findings would be followed
up closely to ensure that the action plan is implemented
accordingly

After the RM and IC Review, the management provided an
action plan so as to mitigate those identified deficiencies in a
timely manner. All internal control findings would be followed up
closely to ensure that the action plan is implemented accordingly.

During the year ended 30 September 2018, the Board was
satisfied that the Group’s RM and IC processes are adequate to
meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment
and that nothing has come to its attention to cause the Board to
believe the Group’s RM and IC systems are inadequate. Moreover,
the existing RM and IC systems are effective and adequate, and
will continue to be reviewed, added on or updated to provide for
changes in the operating environment.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed CHENG & CHENG LIMITED as
auditors of the Company on 8 September 2009. In the Fiscal Year
2017/18, total remuneration paid to the auditors was HK$550,000
(Year ended 30 September 2017: HK$550,000), which represented
statutory audit fee. No non-audit services was performed by
CHENG & CHENG LIMITED during the Fiscal Year 2017/18.

The responsibilities of the auditors with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 46 to 52.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Company
has made specific enquiry to all Directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the Year and they all
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great priority to establishing effective
communications with its shareholders and investors. In an effort to
enhance such communications, the Company provides information
relating to the Company and its business in its interim and annual
reports.

The Company regards its annual general meetings as an
opportunity for direct communications between the Board and
its shareholders. All Directors, senior management and external
auditors make an effort to attend the annual general meetings to
address shareholders’ queries. The Company also responds to
requests for information and queries from the shareholders and
investors and welcomes the views of shareholders on matters
affecting the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’
meetings to communicate any concerns they might have with the
Board or management direct.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
A. Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary

General Meeting

Extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board of Directors or the Secretary of the Company (Room 2302,
23/F, New World Tower I, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong)
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene such meeting, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

B. Procedures for Shareholders to Nominate a Director

A notice in writing of the intention to propose a person for
election as a director of the Company and a notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected together with his/her
particulars (such as qualifications and experience) and information
as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited shall be lodged at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business (Room 2302, 23/F, New World Tower |,
18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong) or at its share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited (Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong). The period for lodgment of the
notices required will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting, and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7
days.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or the “Report”) is to highlight the Group’s approaches
and strategies in pursuit of sustainable development during the
Reporting period. Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the
sustainability performance and initiatives of the Group and its
investments in listed and unlisted securities business. The Group
primarily adopts the principles and basis of Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) as its standards, with an aim to establish
a sound environmental, social and governance structure. For
information on the Group’s corporate governance, please refer to
the Corporate Governance Report included in the Annual Report.

ABOUT THE GROUP

Capital VC Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, “Capital VC” or the “Group”) is a company
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange.

The Group is principally engaged in investing in listed and
unlisted securities mainly in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) during the period from 1 October 2017 to
30 September 2018 (the “Year”). As at 30 September 2018, the
Group’s core portfolio comprises of mainly small to medium sized
listed companies. It maintains a diversified investment portfolio to
cover a wide range of business sectors, including, but not limited
to, companies engaged in sectors such as finance, consumer
goods and consumer services, media, manufacturing, construction,
etc.

MISSION

To achieve medium-term or long-term capital appreciation.
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APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT
As a good corporate citizen, the Group is committed to creating
sustained value for stakeholders by incorporating environmental,
social and governance considerations into its operation with
an aim to be a positive force to its environment and the wider
community. To be accountable to all the stakeholders, the Group
endeavoured to minimize the influence to environment, be aware
of the employee well-being and contribute more to the community.

LISTENING TO STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that understanding the views of its
stakeholders lays a solid foundation to the long-term growth
and success of the Group. It develops multiple channels to a
broad spectrum of stakeholders in order to provide them with the
opportunity to express their views on its sustainability performance
and future strategies. To reinforce mutual trust and respect,
the Group is committed to maintaining enduring communication
channels, both formally and informally, with stakeholders to
enable it to better shape its business strategies in order to
respond to their needs and expectations, anticipate risks and
strengthen key relationships. The Group has identified employees,
business partners, shareholders, suppliers, government and the
community at large as its key stakeholder groups. The information
collected through different communication processes serves as an
underlying basis for the structure of this Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability
of the Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build
both online and offline communication channels and to provide
stakeholders with timely reports on strategic planning and
performance of the Group in order to establish a continuing
communication mechanism with the stakeholders. In addition,
the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, government and

regulatory bodies, employees, customers, suppliers and society
and the public. The Group discusses with the stakeholders through

various channels for their expectations and relevant feedback of

the Group as below:

Stakeholder
BHE

Shareholders

PR

Governments and
regulatory bodies

B REEHE

Employees

(=

Customers
=P

Suppliers
e

Society and the public

HERAR

Expectations

BE

+ Financial results

- HMBEE

* Corporate transparency
- EBHE

* Sound risk control

o EEHERIES

« Compliance with laws and regulations
o EPEDI RARBI
* Relevant conference

. iAmE

* Career development platform
.- BETETA

» Salary and benefits

- FHre kB

« Safe working environment

c ZENIERE

» Customer rights and Interests protection
- BEPREMNRERRE

* Customer information security

s BPEREEZE

* Integrity cooperation

. BEAE

* Business ethics and credibility
. AFERREER

* Environmental protection
. RIERE

* Employment opportunities

- BLEKE
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Communication and feedback

BERKE

* To improve profitability

. REEAETE

* Regular information disclosure

- EHREEHE

» To optimize risk management and internal
control

< B E IR N A AR

» Compliance operation
. ARKRE
* Direct communication
- HEESR

* Promotion mechanism

. BFHE

» Competitive salary and employee benefits

- BEBFNNHLEERA

* To provide trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness

- REESHEIRMNEZEEH

» Compliance marketing
- AR
» Customer privacy protection

- BPFALERE

* To build a responsible supply chain
- BEBREEHHERE
» To perform the contract according to law

« REREBLD

» To put into use environmental protection
and energy saving equipment

- BRESERKBRALR

» To provide employment opportunities

- RftHERE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMTM
In the Year, the Company undertook its annual materiality RAFERN ARRCETEFEEEMTH %
assessment exercise. This involved conducting interviews and/or FHES RE A R INEBF XA E ARG R HAE
surveys with internal and external stakeholders to identify the most MRS EEBEAREENEE BEMIEFE-
significant operating, environmental and social impacts towards its
business.
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Environmental Social Operating practices
BE e ReEEH
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 9. Local community engagement 17. Economic value generated
1. RERBHMN 9. EiitRSBH 17. BIEKEEE
2. Energy consumption 10. Community investment 18. Corporate governance
2. BERHFE 10. HRIKE 18. (LXEA
3. Water consumption 11. Occupational health and safety 19. Anti-corruption
3. KERHEE M. BERREZE 19. R&S
4. Waste 12. Labour standards in supply chain 20. Supply chain management
4. FEEY) 12. HEHES T AR 20. HEHE R
5. Saving energy measures 13. Training and development 21. Customer satisfaction
5. HiREfE i 13. I\l kB R 21. BEFmE
6. Use of raw materials and packaging materials 14. Employee welfare 22. Customer privacy
6. RMHERBEMER 14. [E &7 22. BEF AL
7. Utilization of energy resources 15. Inclusion and equal opportunities
7. BERGER 15. B R TSRS
8. Use of chemicals 16. Talent attraction and retention
8. t2EmEA 16. A7 REI KB E
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ENVIRONMENT
Emissions

The Group’s core business does not directly generate
significant air emissions, hazardous waste or waste water
discharge. The most common emission from its daily business
activities is greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission which mainly
generated from the consumption of purchased electricity and the

fuel consumed from the use of motor vehicles.

Energy Management

As energy consumption accounts for a major part of the
Group’s GHG emissions, various energy saving measures have
been undertaken to improve energy efficiency and reduce energy

consumption of its operations, for example:

» Deploy natural light and use energy-saving lightings, where

feasible

» Switch off unnecessary lighting and energy consumption

equipment (e.g. computer) while not in use

» Put the computer to sleep instead of using a screen saver

* Avoid over-cooling of offices and keep the air conditioning

temperature at a suitable temperature

* Clean the air filter of air-conditioners regularly to improve

cool air flow efficiency

» Switch off air conditioning after 7 p.m. even OT work is
required, as less staff utilise air-conditioning in that period

» Motor vehicles are restricted to the use by management for
attending business meetings and to be used by important

business partners

e Turn off car engines when idling
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Waste Management

The Group’s wastes are mainly classified into two categories
in its business, including general wastes (household wastes) and
recyclable wastes. The Group does not generate any hazardous
waste in the ordinary course of business. Non-hazardous waste
produced from the operations of the Group is mainly comprised
of general office consumables which have no material impact on
the environment. The Group avoids wastage with the following

measures:

*» Reuse the pen shafts by using refills instead of simply
throwing away the whole ballpoint pens

» Dispose rechargeable batteries in designated collection
boxes

» Arrange recycle company to collect toner cartridges for
recycling

* Deploy recycling bins to collect used paper products, such
as waste paper, letter and envelope

* Avoid the consumption of paper cups and other disposable
utensils

+ Paper use is an essential item for its operational
activities such as printing of publications and notices. For
environmental protection, the Group has implemented the
following policies to reduce the use of paper:

» Adopt an electronic system for filing and documentation

* Promote electronic communications and “think before
you copy” attitude, we encourage our employee to use
both sides off the paper for printing and copying

* Adopt double-sided printing and photocopying

* Sending email is suggested instead of letters or fax
when possible

* Receive incoming faxes electronically through an e-fax
system, and make hard copies only when necessary
using used paper
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Fuel consumption of motor vehicles is the major source of
nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and particulate
matter (“PM”) emissions. The motor vehicles are strictly used for
picking up the staff and business activities.

Gaseous Emissions from the Use of Mobile Combustion
Sources
Environmental Performance

RERE

NOx REID
SOx ek
PM BOFRF

GHG emission

BERBIHER

GHG emission (Scope 1) BEREHR (HEE1)
GHG emission (Scope 2) AEREHR (HE2)
GHG emission (Scope 3) BERBEBER (#E3)
Total GHG emission R EREBHEN

Total number of employees EEBY

GHG emission intensity BEREBEREE

Scope 1: It represents the petrol and diesel consumption from motor
vehicles and a vessel.

Scope 2: It represents the electricity purchased from power suppliers.

Scope 3: It represents the paper waste disposed at landfills and water

used.

Environmental Performance
RIERE

Hazardous wastes produced EXEBEREEY

Intensity of hazardous wastes EEEEEENEE
produced

Non-hazardous wastes produced E4EEZFEEY)

Intensity of non-hazardous EEBREEZEVNEE

wastes produced

Note 1: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including
chemical wastes, clinical wastes and hazardous chemicals in its
operations.

Note 2: Non-hazardous wastes produced by the office have

been minimal and are mainly comprised of general office
consumables which have no material impact on the
environment. Therefore, no relevant figure is quantified.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Waste Disposal Ordinance and other applicable laws
and regulations that have a significant impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharging into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Group in
the Year.

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.

Use of Resources

The Group grasps every opportunity to encourage its
employees in supporting green initiatives in daily operations to
incorporate environmental sustainability into its business operation.
Due to the nature of office’s operations and business, the major
resources consumed by the Group are electricity, water and paper.

Employees are required to switch off the lights, electrical
appliances and air conditioning when not in use. Air conditioners
are set for indoor temperature of 24 degrees Celsius, if possible,
to reduce electricity usage. The Group’s key water usage is
arising from toilet flushing, water tap and drinking water. It
operates in leased office premises of which both of the water
supply and discharge are solely controlled by the respective
building management which is considered that provision of water
withdrawal and discharge data or sub-meter for individual occupant
not feasible. To avoid unnecessary water consumption from daily
operation, the Group promotes staff behaviour by encouraging
employees to always turn taps off tightly so they do not drip and
giving priority to effective water-saving products.

The Group will continue to look for opportunities to reduce
further emissions and wastes on an ongoing basis in order to
minimise the Group’s impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources.
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Consumptions from Operations
Environmental Performance

RIBEN

Electricity consumption HE
Electricity intensity B
Water consumption AKX

F7KIRE

Packaging material consumption B2 1 %} 5 3%

Water intensity

BEMHRE

Packaging material intensity
Note 1: No packaging material is consumed by the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The principal business activities of the Group do not have
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.
Despite this, it is committed to sustainability by seeking to reduce
the environmental impact of its operations, with a particular focus
on reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and preservation of

resources.

The Group encourages all employees to participate in different
kinds of recycling activities and minimising the use of natural
resources. In the Year, there is no significant impact on the
environment and natural resources from the operations.

Employees are well-informed of the green measures adopted
by the Group through regular meetings and sending them emails
and relevant materials to advocate their awareness and behavioral
change.

As mentioned in the above sections, the Group has
implemented various measures to protect water resources and
reduce waste. The Group will continue to encourage green
office and resources conservation in order to contribute to the
sustainable development of mankind.
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SOCIAL
Employment and employee benefits

Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable
assets and core competitive advantage of the Group. It aims to
provide employees with respectful and fair working environment
through maintaining a sound system of human resources
management covering the various aspects such as recruitment and
remuneration.

The recruitment and promotion of the Group are fair and open
for all employees, and are not affected by age, sex, physical or
mental health status, marital status, family status, race, skin colour,
nationality, religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation
and other factors. In order to provide a good and fair working
environment and safeguard the well-being of the employees, it
seriously considers all those valuable opinions from the employees
for enhancing workplace productivity and harmony.

The Group offers competitive remuneration, promotional
opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to attract and
retain talents. Remuneration packages are reviewed periodically
based on the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and market information. The Group aims to reward and motivate
the contribution and performance of employees and assist them in
their career development and promotion within the Group.
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As at 30 September 2018, the Group had a total of 11
employees including directors of the Company. All of the
employees are located in Hong Kong. The distribution of workforce
classified by difference catalogues are as follows:

By gender
EIERIE D

Male 1%
55%

By employment category
REEEREID

Entry level #14%
__ 18%
-t Senior level

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Employment Ordinance, Employee’ Compensation Ordinance
and other applicable laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to employment, labour relations, employees’
remuneration, employees’ compensation insurance, mandatory
provident fund and welfare of employees on the Group in the Year.

No non-compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or
sanctions had been reported in the Year.
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Health and Safety

As employees are the most important asset and resource of the
Group, the primary goal is to provide a safe and healthy working
environment for the employees under reasonable and practicable
conditions. The Group is committed to achieving this goal by
implementing the following key measures:

* Providing and maintaining in all workplaces under the
Group’s control a working environment which is safe and
poses no threat to health

» Carrying out inspection for any unsafe condition and fix it
immediately

 Smoking is prohibited in all enclosed areas within the
offices, without exception

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Although the operation of the Group is predominantly
office-based, it adheres to Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other
applicable laws and regulations to provide a safe and healthy
workplace in order to protect its employees from occupational
hazards.

No case of work-related injury or death was recorded by the
Group during the Year. In addition, no non-compliance with law
that resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in
the Year.

Development and Training

All directors, including the independent non-executive directors,
should keep abreast of their responsibilities as directors and the
Company’s business and activities. The Group provides briefings
and training to develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge and
skills and update all directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate them to
discharge their responsibilities.
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The Group also encourages its directors and employees to
attend relevant training courses and seminars that may require
keeping abreast with the latest changes in laws, regulations and
the business environment. The Group conducts performance
evaluation annually, and based on the assessment result to provide
the staff with appropriate training, and offer job development and
promotion opportunities for outstanding employees.

Labour Standards

The Group’s employment policies in regard to prohibiting
child and forced labour are implemented to respond to the
local employment laws and regulations. Prior to confirmation of
employment, the Group’s human resources department will require
job applicants to provide a valid identity documents to verify that
the applicants are lawfully employable, and ensure full compliance
of relevant laws and regulations that prohibit child and forced
labour.

The Group has no tolerance for the use of forced labour or
child labour in its business operations. The Group enters into
employment contract with each of its employees in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Employment Ordinance, Employment of Children Regulations
and other applicable laws and regulations relating to preventing
child or forced labour on the Group in the Year.

No non-compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or
sanctions had been reported in the Year.
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BE HEREARS

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s suppliers mainly comprise of those providing
general office supplies, such as water, paper and stationery. It
generally selects suppliers based on their scale of business and
reputation. Its suppliers should comply with all relevant local and
national laws and regulations in relation to unethical behaviour,
bribery, corruption and other prohibited business practices. The
Group expects the suppliers to implement good employment
measures by dealing with their employees fairly and reasonably,
respecting employees’ rights and providing employees with
an environment free of discrimination, child labour and forced
labour. The suppliers also need to adhere to transparent business
processes and high standards of conduct which they have to avoid
conflicts of interest and prohibit corruption and bribery.

During the Year, the Group did not aware that any key
suppliers had any significant actual and potential negative impact
on business ethics, environmental protection, human rights and
labour practices, nor any of them had any non-compliance incident
in respect of human rights issues.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to protecting privacy and confidentiality
of personal data of its business partners and other identifiable
individuals. Employees are instructed to handle confidential
information with due care and to collect and use information in a
responsible and non-discriminatory manner by restricting the use
of the information for the purposes consistent with those identified
in the contracts.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and other applicable laws
and regulations that have a significant impact relating to privacy
matters in regard to products and services provided by the Group
in the Year.

No significant fines had been reported in the Year.

HEgEEE

AEBNHERIZA RPN EARTERE
Bk MR EXAMRERE —RM 5 ARER
HEBZEBRERBEREHRER AEBNHE
BAET—RANERTA B B kEMEE
IO EETRBENEMRBZUERMER - AEE
HNEHERERRFNERER A TFREHEFH
BE BERERNA/ERERH —EAFNFELESR
BETRBESTHRR -HEBTEEERRHIKESEH
MEBRERSRBNBETRENB LA GZFTR E
EES R

REFE FEBETAREAEBHERYRE
B BR AERSIEBEMENEAER RS
ETHPE NTAREMRSEENEHARES
SERSESS

EmEME

AEERINREELZEBR H L E M E B E
AHRTLIRIA R EAE R RE - B BIRIE S| 2 HEIEH
BEM MAKEEBRFIEMEANARTAEALMN
#MAlz%ERE HolBENABEREREZ T A K
SENEREH -

B TIHRE R OZK

RAFE AEESTANTEAKEMRERER R
RENLEEEFRLBREAZENTEAREER
CEIA B (FLERD) BRB1) A e Bt FA R ROEREY

IED

MAFE  NREBHEETMEKRIR

Annual Report 2017/18 3 35



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HEREGHRE

Anti-corruption

To maintain a fair, ethical and efficient business and working
environment, the Group strictly adheres to the laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption and bribery irrespective of the area or
country where the Group is conducting business such as the Law
of the PRC on Anti-money Laundering and Hong Kong’s Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance. The Group adopts zero-tolerance approach
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money-laundering. All Directors,
management personnel and staff members must comply with all
related laws and regulations on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud
and money-laundering in their operation regions in their daily
works. All employees not only have responsibility to understand
and comply with above policies on preventing bribery, extortion,
fraud and money-laundering, but also have obligation to report
violation to the person responsible for Board. Any person, who
contravenes the regulations, will be subject to disciplinary sanction.
There were no significant risks relating to corruption have been
identified.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other applicable laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in the Year.

There was no legal case concerning corruption brought against
the Group or its employees in the Year.

Community Involvement

The Group is committed to being a responsible member
of the community and aims to make a positive impact on the
local community. The Group believes that maintaining harmonic
relationship with the community is beneficial to the business
development of the Group.

During the Year, the Group made donations of approximately
HK$3 million to Yan Qi Tong which is a registered charitable
organisation providing full-service charity in Hong Kong to
support its comprehensive caring services to those in need in the
community.

In addition, the Group encourages employees to participate

in various voluntary events, creating a strong social network and
providing assistance and supports for the people in need.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to
present the annual report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 30 September 2018 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 53 to 56 and page 127.
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Period.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 30 September
2018, calculated in accordance with the laws of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to HK$629,753,695 (30 September 2017:
HK$873,097,059).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there was no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Fair review of the Company’s business and likely future
development

Please refer to “Executive Directors’ Statement” on pages 4 to 5.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
Please refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection
Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report in this Annual Report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
the Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-
corruption practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty,
integrity and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by
all employees of the Group at all times. As such, the Board has
instructed the Group’s employees are not allowed to solicit or
accept any advantage for themselves or others, from any person,
company or organisations having business dealings with the
Group.

Company’s key relationships with its employees

The Group has provided employees with opportunities
to advance their career. The Group’s policy is to encourage
employees to take part in professional examinations, seminars
and training courses related to their roles and duties through
course fee subsidies and leave grants. Competitive remuneration
is also offered to employees and their performance is reviewed on
an annual basis reflecting each employee’s contributions to the
Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate to
conform with the Period’s presentation, is set out on page 132.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company was
approved and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual
general meeting held on 10 December 2013 (the “Option
Scheme”), unless otherwise cancelled or amended subject to
resolution passed at general meeting of the Company the Option
Scheme will remain in force for ten years from 10 December 2013.
As at 30 September 2018, the remaining life of the Option Scheme
was approximately 5 years and 3 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to promote
the success of the business of the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant
or advisor of any member of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of any member of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service
provider of any member of the Group, or any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be,
the independent non-executive Directors) from time to time on the
basis of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.
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Without prior separate approval from the Company’s
shareholders, (i) the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company must
not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company as at the date of
the shareholders’ approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each Participant under the Option Scheme
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company
subject to options granted during such period under any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue for any time being.

Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or
substantive shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company, or any of their respective associates
under the Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the
prior approval of the independent non-executive directors or
shareholders of the Company as the case may be. Without prior
separate approval from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant shall
not (i) exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue on the
date of such grant; and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, in excess of HK$5 million.
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Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be
accepted by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-
one days from the date of such offer. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s
share options during the year:
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There was no outstanding Option under the Option Scheme
at the date of this Annual Report. The total number of shares
available for issue based on the Options eligible to be granted
under the Option Scheme was 275,488,249 shares, which
represents approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kong Fanpeng
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Ming Gin

Ms. Lai Fun Yin

Mr. Cheung Wai Kin

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr. Chan Cheong
Yee and Mr. Lee Ming Gin shall retire in accordance with Article
85(1). Both of them being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election thereat.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 30 September 2018, none of the Directors have entered
into any service agreement with any member of the Group which is
not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Neither transaction, arrangement nor contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, existed at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for Directors’ Liability Insurance
Policy for indemnifying their liabilities arising from corporate
activities. The coverage and the amount insured under such policy
are reviewed annually by the Company.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The primary goal of our policy for remuneration packages is to
ensure that the Directors are fairly rewarded and that they receive
appropriate incentives to maintain high standards of performance.

Details of the Director’'s emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2018
are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

As at 30 September 2018, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have any
Discloseable Interests or Short Position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) (including interests or short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules (collectively
“Discloseable Interests or Short Positions”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 September 2018, there was no person who had any
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director, the chief executive or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
UNDER THE RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee was appointed as an executive director
of National Investment Fund Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1227), with effect from 27 November
2018, and has resigned as an executive director of each of Alpha
Returns Group PLC., an investment company listed on AIM of
London Stock Exchange, with effect from 30 April 2018, and Bingo
Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8220) with effect from 24 September 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the Year.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

On 17 October 2014, the Company entered into an investment
management agreement in relation to appointment Insight Capital
Management (HK) Limited (“Insight HK”) as its investment manager
for an initial term of two years commencing from 21 October 2014
up to 20 October 2016, and extended to 16 October 2018. The
Company pays to Insight HK an investment management fee
payable monthly at HK$50,000. During the year, the Company
and Insight HK mutually agreed to terminate the investment
management agreement with effect from 1 January 2018.

On 29 December 2017, the Company entered into an
investment management agreement to appoint China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited (“CES”) as its new investment manager for
an initial terms of three years commencing from 1 January 2018.
The Company has to pay CES monthly investment management
fee of HK$50,000.

Save as disclosed above, no other material contract (not being
contract entered into in the ordinary course of business) was
entered into by any member of the Group during the Year.

LITIGATION

The details of a pending litigation are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

44 EHERARDT | CAPITAL VC LIMITED

BELETHRAUE1351B)HRIEBEESER

MEEXEEA - \F+—AZ+LtAREZ
FARBRAEMZARBEBREEESBER AR (K
MREN227) ZHITES UHRE-T—\FHEA
=tBER-E-NFAA-THOEERHERBRES
RS BB EMISG £ 2% E A F Alpha Returns
Group PLC. ZTEE RN X FTGEM LT 2 A A
EEEERBR AT (ROMRE : 8220) ZHITESE -

EEAHN
AEERNTERERAEMEBREHRAFME
BHH 2 ERRTBI LRI AEMEH -

BEXEN

RZF—NMF+A++ER ARARFL—HEE
EIEW% - LAZ B Insight Capital Management (HK)
Limited ([Insight HK ) R EEEEE A - Y18 &
—EHF+AZ+—HRBEZZE-—R"F+HA=1H
EARRETTEHE—"T— N \FT+A+TB - AQ7
[ Insight HK X % & & 12 & & 50,000/ 7T R &
FE AR A Hinsight HK 2k [ 7E 42 1H 18 & & 12 #
H BT N\F-A—HRBEM-

R-ZE—tF+_A-thA ARBFTLEREE
Bl WEEFBEEKRER (EB)BRAR ([EK
EHFREHREEEA VLEHE T \F—
A—BEFRB=F -ARFARALABFINEAK
& B £50,000% 7T ©

R EXHIRBEEN AEBERKERARRAFE
WERITZEMBERGA (AFNAFTEBBIEPFIL
2Ea8) -

BRFRFRZFBENERA M BEHRERMFEI0



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the Year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the Year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there was no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors
confirmed that at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share
capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Period have been audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED. CHENG
& CHENG LIMITED retires and, being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of CHENG &
CHENG LIMITED as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at
the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 December 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB AR S

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
wmomow out Mo OB A R A A

10/F, Allied Kajima Building,

138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BB BT ELTTE1385

e RS ANE10E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CAPITAL VC LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
carrying on business in Hong Kong as CNI VC Limited)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
CAPITAL VC LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 53 to 131, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 30 September 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBEMRE

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

EROER

BMPERBEEESMASHEMN BT EETER
(IEBEHER]DETEZ RPEXFEAT AL
MEFEERMORE (XU ERES P BRE
ARBEZEET] — ST FE—THA - REFL S
B RgRMAE (FEXEmERETR) (78] - %
MBELN E5E YEeRETABETHMEREE
BAEE BRAMESHEZREERRKEELS
BN EZE R REER-

HARERER

FREBEZEFESRBERFANEXALE  RAE A
REMBRANELEA/EENTH ELFTHER
BPMEZERGAMBHRRLAUEAES REETRE
BR- Rk reHsLFTREHREBNER -

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREREE EMNERNTEERRSEE

Valuation of unlisted available-for-sale investments and unlisted financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

FLTARLEREREANEAA B BIEZ I LT FEEZ IG1E

Refer to notes 18 and 20 in the consolidated financial statements
B2HEERE B mRME18%20

The Group had unlisted available-for-sale investments and  Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of

unlisted financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  unlisted available-for-sale investments and unlisted financial
of HK$57,733,160 and HK$120,300,000 respectively, which  assets at fair value through profit or loss included:

were measured at fair value as at 30 September 2018. HFIEBEETEEBHIELTAHRBERENE AL BT ABRE
The fair values were assessed by the management with B2 T KEE#RTHEZEFEE:

reference to valuations performed by an independent valuer

(the “Valuer”) engaged by the Group and other information —
of the investment.

RZE-—NFALA=+H BEEEFFLTmAHEE -~
REREBERAAEFABREREZFLTHBEES B A
57,733,160/% 7T 2120,300,000/ 7T IR AR Bt = F @
ARETNHEEEBLL2E BESEZR 2B L(AERM ([EE
B 1) AT 2 (B A K Zik & 2 HAth B R FT A -

Assessing the competence, capabilities, independence
and objectivity of the Valuer;
T EER A 82 a2 B REEH M

Assessing the valuation methodology used and the
appropriateness of the key bases and assumptions
used, and discussing these bases and assumptions with
the management and the Valuer;

FHERA 2 MEF EZARKA 2 T EEERBREREREE
I B8 B E R ik (B AN A AR ik B B R R
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BB S

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)
BREEREE (H#)

BAREXZEE (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

EMWERNAEEERSEE (K)

Valuation of unlisted available-for-sale investments and unlisted financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

FHETARLNEREREAABFAAN BB BRI LT EREEZ IGE (&)

Refer to notes 18 and 20 in the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

A2 A B RARME18%20(4)

The valuations of the unlisted available-for-sale investments
and unlisted financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss involved significant judgement and estimates, including
the determination of valuation methodology and the
selection of different inputs to the valuation models.
FEMAHEERERZAREF ABSRIEZIF EHUK
BEZMESRERHE R BEEEEETEREKE
TR ABIEZE HEER -

We identified the valuation of unlisted available-for-sale
investments and unlisted financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as a key audit matter as it required
management to exercise significant judgement and
estimation, and was assessed by us to be a significant risk
of material misstatement.
BMEBRNFELTAIHEERERKRANEFABRRERZ
LT BEEZHEREREXRETE RARARERE
BEREARAE NG ERB M EREEFEEAHERR
itz AR -
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Challenging the reasonableness of the key assumptions
based on our knowledge;
BREBERMNTH BREIERR 2B

Obtaining supportive evidence for the significant
judgements and estimates of the valuations and the key
inputs used in the valuations;

SIAE ERAE MG REEMRA 2 =25 ARE
RIS #7RE

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the valuation;
and

REMEZHEERNE : &

Assessing the reasonableness of the other information
of the investment.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBEMRE

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual
report but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’ s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

+ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Shek Chi

Practising Certificate Number: P05540

Hong Kong, 21 December 2018

52 ®#AIRAMRAT | CAPITAL VC LIMITED

RBARELGEWBBRRAREZEE (80

REBEZZEGBEBZEET HMABTHBERAN
HRaVBRENMERAEE 2 FE A #EKEE
ERFE-RIPDEBEIER TR LRAKENLEE
ERBFERZEAT HMARRBEEZSEFEATAR
TaER 2 TR 1% RS8R RAE I FIE 2w w1 e
RmEPRE SURMERNZBAMBRE A LF
IH o

MM EKAARL A
HESI AT

PRIEE

B EHRIS - P05540

EE —E-N\Ft+-_H_-+—H



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

%;_—T_/\E\/

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Notes HK$ HK$
M it BT BT
Continuing operations BESEEK
Turnover am 7 (179,754,212)  (516,171,722)
Other income, net H fth U A EE 9 8,146,306 5,000,000
Administrative expenses 1T E A (29,403,919) (28,383,914)
Impairment losses on Al ERE R EEE
available-for-sale investments (41,795,121) (41,864,660)
Share-based payments AR BELEZ 5 - (3,881,200)
Operating loss ZiEEE (242,806,946) (585,301,496)
Finance cost BB A 10 (1,615,048) (8,585,269)
Loss before tax % B AT &5 18 11 (244,421,994)  (593,886,765)
Income tax expense Frigfim X 12 = (9,843,716)
Loss for the year from continuing BEKEEB 2 AFEER
operations (244,421,994)  (603,730,481)
Discontinued operation IE R K
Profit for the year from z&u;%« EEBZARNFEERAN
discontinued operation 13 - 15,712,949
Loss for the year attributable to RATIRERFBAEBEARFEEER
equity holders of the Company (244,421,994) (588,017,532)
Dividend [i% 8 14 - -
(Loss)/earnings per share gk (BER) &
— basic and diluted —EARAREE
— Continuing and discontinued —FREEE R E T
operations 15 (0.0887) (0.3137)
— Continuing operations — R EED 15 (0.0887) (0.3221)
— Discontinued operation — R REET 15 - 0.0084
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEmRkEMEERER

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

Loss for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of tax

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Net movement in investment revaluation
reserve

ARBIBRERBEABRERFEER

Bz AFEEMEHEER

RESHRBEZDFR

Notes

Bz

18(a)

2018
—EB-N\F
HK$

(244,421,994)

(270,059)

(588,017,532)

(75,021)

Total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to equity holders of
the Company

ARBRERAARBEAEE
2HEBRERE

(244,692,053)

(588,092,553)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operation

ATALRBEAFEEZE
(&8) /BFEE:
ARBIRERAA
—KERFERERD
—KERIEREETR

(244,692,053)

(603,805,502)
15,712,949

(244,692,053)

(588,092,553)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PIR R

At 30 September 2018 =T —\FHLA=+H

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 BT BT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment = K& 17 8,964,466 18,822,966
Available-for-sale investments AREERE 18 57,733,160 143,634,340
66,697,626 162,457,306
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE ke R E M EWKIA
other receivables 19 162,330,258 163,790,117
Financial assets at fair value BARB AEREECUBEE
through profit or loss 20 465,607,032 627,113,409
Tax recoverable AT Y (=] 718 - 8,508,838
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREeEREY 21 56,862,337 52,151,520
684,799,627 851,563,884
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HEMENRERETER 23 15,943,215 23,775,099
Net current assets REBEERE 668,856,412 827,788,785
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBEE 735,554,038 990,246,091
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 24 - 10,000,000
Net assets EEZFE 735,554,038 980,246,091
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A N
mE AR R
At 30 September 2018 *=—/\FHLA=+H
2018 2017
—E=E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$ HK$
By et BT BT
Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital & 75 25 68,872,062 68,872,062
Reserves & 1 666,681,976 911,374,029
Total equity attributable to RATIREREABIGERLERE

equity holders of the Company

735,554,038 980,246,091

Net asset value per share FREEFE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 53 to 131 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
21 December 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Cheong Yee
CY=F 5
Director

BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAREEDR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARARBEEAREES
Retained
Capital Investment Share profits/
Share Share reduction revaluation options  (accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses) equity
BRAHR RE& BRE RERA/
B& RHEE i EftfRE 1 (R3tE#R) BEEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B BT AL BT BT BT
At 1 October 2016 W=E-~%+A-H 15,653,016 925,217,428 22,826,010 345,080 - 157,250,438 1,121,291,972
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - - (588,017,532)  (588,017,532)
Other comprehensives loss for the year AEEENZERR - - - (75,021) - = (75,021)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEE2ARRLEE = = = (75,021) - (588,017,532)  (588,092,553)
Grant of share options (Note 25(b)) RINERE (f7722500)) - - - - 3,881,200 - 3,881,200
Issue of ordinary shares by exercise of INTEBRER A BT E AR
share option (Note 25(b)) (fir#25(6)) 1,565,000 35,369,000 = = (3,881,200) 3,881,200 36,934,000
Issue of ordinary shares by rights issue IWERA A BT EER
(Note 25(c)) (Hr#25(c)) 51,654,046 361578327 = = = - 413232373
Share issue expenses (Note 25(c)) RIVETER (Hit250)) - (7,000,901) - - - - (7,000,901)
At 30 September 2017 W=Z—+EnA ;Jr H 68,872,062 1,315,163,854 22,826,010 270,059 = (426,885,894 980,246,091
At 1 October 2017 R=2-+%+A-H 68,872,062 1,315,163,854 22,826,010 270,059 - (426,885,894) 980,246,091
Loss for the year REERE - - - - - (244,421,994)  (244,421,994)
Other comprehensives loss for the year AEEEMRARE - - - (270,059) - - (270,059)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEREBBLE - - - (270,059) - (244,421,994)  (244,692,053)
At 30 September 2018 R=E-\FnA=TH 68,872,062  1,315,163,854 22,826,010 - - (671,307,888) 735,554,038
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

HERERER

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Dividend income from investments
in listed securities
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investment
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Impairment losses on available-for-sale
investments
Interest income
Bond interest expenses
Interest paid on margin payable
Net realised loss on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Net unrealised loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

Written-off of other receivables and
other payables, net

Share-based payments

Share of results of an associate

REES

Bk B Al & 18
AEH AT A :

E REETE
KERELMRESFZ

B S A
HEAMHRBEREZ WS

HE — R B E 2 W
AHHEREZREEE

FBHA

BN E X
ENFRRIEZHE
BAREFAEZREY
HBEEZD#EEE
R
BAREABSEEEZ
MREEZREREBR
R

i 3 EL At FE R TR B A
JEAS SR IR F AR

VAR AR B 2 15 3R
FE(E — B & R B RE

FLOWS

2018

—E-N\F

Notes HK$
M iE BT

(244,421,994)

9,858,500

(82,291)

(8,164,000)

41,795,121

(15,005,051)
1,000,000
615,048

153,675,363

41,166,191

18,000

2017
—E—+tF
HK$

BT

(577,951,816)

10,907,587

(159,889)

(5,000,000)
(15,337,796)

41,864,660
(10,489,986)

8,585,269

356,303,360

169,172,424

3,881,200
748,660

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Increase in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Decrease in other payables and accruals

"
&

b

TEPINEERS

i
B0 my

=
=

N

AR EEABREEY
B 5 & 7 4 D0 48

B HOE R
OB

H A 18 4 BOR R B R B
b

(19,545,113)

(28,214,177)

(3,555,617)

(7,731,884)

(17,476,327)

(290,137,227)

(8,960,089)

(85,190,739)

Cash used in operations

Dividend income from investments
in listed securities

Interest paid on margin payable

Interest received

Tax refund/(paid)

REXBHRERH

KEHRELMESRZ
RPN

B FRIER S

B KA B

RE (BER)BIE

(59,046,791)

82,291
(615,048)

4,281,527

8,508,838

(401,764,382)

159,889
(8,585,269)
4,250,788
(3,645,335)

NET CASH USED IN
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RETHRERHFE

(46,789,183)

(409,584,309)
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+4F
Notes HK$ HK$
B e BT BT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEE
Repayment from/(advance to) an investee —FEIRERRIER
company, net (BF—BHKELFZ
B )EHE 20,000,000 (4,350,000)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments BEAHIERE - (34,500,000)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HEMNHEERE ZMERIEA
investments 38,500,000 19,999,986
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—MKEB AR ZFERE 4,000,000 14,000,000
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) REZHRSAAN (GRd) BE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 62,500,000 (4,850,014)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BiEE
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BT E MR 2 FT1S 3R - 450,166,373
Expenses on issue of ordinary shares BT BERER - (7,000,901)
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITESF 2B HIEAE = 10,000,000
Repayment of bonds BEES (11,000,000) -
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED RMEZH RS
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (FRd) FHAZE (11,000,000) 453,165,472
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND He MR EEWIEINFR
CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,710,817 38,731,149
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FURERBFEEEED
BEGINNING OF YEAR 52,151,520 13,420,371
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRIEG RS EEY
END OF YEAR
represented by, bank balances and NSRITHEBREBHEFRS 21
cash at securities accounts 275 56,862,337 52,151,520
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

GENERAL

Capital VC Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is Room 2302, 23rd
Floor, New World Tower I, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”).

The principal activities of the Group are engaged in investing
in listed and unlisted companies mainly in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the year ended 30 September 2018 (the “Year”), the Group
has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group:

Amendments to As part of the Annual
HKFRS 12 Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12  Recognition of Deferred Tax Asset
for Unrealised Losses

The application of the above new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has no material financial impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 2  Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions’

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property’

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments'

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the Related
Amendments'’

HKFRS 16 Leases?

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration’
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*

Amendment to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle’

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle?

Amendments to HKAS 19  Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement?

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or a after 1 January
2021

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has identified some aspects
of the new standards which may have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements. Further details
of the expected impacts are discussed below. While the
assessment has been substantially completed for HKFRS 9,
the actual impacts upon the initial adoption of the standards
may differ as the assessment completed to date is based on
the information currently available to the Group, and further
impacts may be identified before the standards are initially
applied in the Group’s interim financial report for the six
months ended 31 March 2019. The Group may also change
its accounting policy elections, including the transition options,
until the standards are initially applied in that financial report.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

2,

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Nature of change

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities,
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new

impairment model for financial assets.

Impact

The Group has reviewed its financial assets and liabilities and
is expecting the following impact from the adoption of the new
standard on 1 October 2018:

The Group’s debt instruments that are currently designated
as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) will satisfy
the conditions for classification as fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). Any fair value changes of
these instruments will be recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve. These gains or losses will be reclassified to profit
or loss when the bonds are derecognised. On the other
hand, the Group’s certain equity instruments which are not
held for trading are currently classified as available-for-
sale investments (“AFS”). The Group will irrevocably elect
to designate these investments as FVTOCI. If these equity
investments are designated as FVTOCI, then only dividend
income on these investments will be recognised in profit or
loss. Any other gains or losses on these investments will be
recognised in other comprehensive income without recycling
to profit or loss.

The other financial assets held by the Group include:

o equity investments currently measured at FVTPL which
will continue to be measured on the same basis under
HKFRS 9; and

. debt instruments currently classified as loans and
receivables and measured at amortised cost will continue
to be measured on the same basis under HKFRS 9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

2,

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impact (Continued)

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect the
accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at
FVTPL and the Group does not have any such liabilities.
The derecognition rules have been transferred from HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
have not been changed.

The new impairment model requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected credit losses
(“ECL”) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the
case under HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified
at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVTOCI,
contract assets under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments and
certain financial guarantee contracts. The Group expects
that the application of the ECL model will result in earlier
recognition of credit losses.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure
requirements and changes in presentation. These are
expected to change the nature and extent of the Group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in the
year of the adoption of the new standard.

Date of adoption by the Group

The new standard must be applied for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will
apply the new rules retrospectively from 1 October 2018,
with the practical expedients permitted under the standard.
Comparatives for 2018 will not be restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the effective date of acquisition and up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly
disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings/accumulated
losses). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’ s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held
for sale or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and/or annual
rates of depreciation adopted, if any, are as follows:

— Furniture and fixtures 25%
— Office equipment 25%
— Computers 25%
— Motor vehicles 25%
— Vessel 25%-50%

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item) is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Discontinued operations (Continued)

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, which comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expenses over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liabilities, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Income or expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and
available-for-sale investments. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for
trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition
at FVTPL.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term, or it is
part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
pattern of short-term profit-making. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivates are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments or financial guarantee contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

— such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

— the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’ s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

— it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.

At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At the end of the reporting period subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including other
receivables, amount due from an available-for-sale investment
and bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss of financial
assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at

FVTPL or loans and receivables.

At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in investment revaluation reserve, until the investment is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss (see accounting policy

on impairment loss of financial assets below).

Impairment loss of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its

cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counter

party; or

— default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

or

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment loss of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. For
available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the
investment can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the recognition of the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally
classified as other financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including other payables and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amounts, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Revenue recognition

Dividend income from investments in listed securities
including financial assets at FVTPL is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income from financial assets including financial assets
at FVTPL and available-for-sale investments is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount.

Other income is recognised whenever it is received or
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit
or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary
item that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a
foreign operation, in which case, such exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for
the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are

incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as
a reduction of rental expenses on straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in finance
costs in the consolidated financial statements in the period in
which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are charged as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) one entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to advisers

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair value of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve), when the Group obtains the goods or when
the counterparties render services, unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
other reserve within the equity. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to other reserve within the equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which

are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are

required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are

not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and

associated assumptions are based on historical experience

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i)

(ii)

Useful lives and residual values of items of plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values
of items of plant and equipment, the Group has to
consider various factors, such as expected usage of the
asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and
maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on
the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of
the asset is based on the experience of the Group with
similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or
the residual values of items of plant and equipment
are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and
residual values are reviewed, at each financial year end
date based on changes in circumstances.

Estimation of impairment loss recognised in
respect of other receivables

The Group determines the impairment loss recognised in
respect of other receivables based on objective evidence
of impairment and historical loss experience such as
past collection, credit history and ageing analysis of the
individual balance of the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Valuation of available-for-sale investments

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar unlisted equity securities, the Group determines
the fair values by using valuation techniques based on
information from a variety of sources, including the latest
information of the available-for-sale investments.

The carrying amounts of the available-for-sale investments
as at 30 September 2018 was HK$57,733,160 (2017:
HK$143,634,340), further details of which are set out in
note 18.

Valuation of unlisted bond investments

In the absence of current prices in active market for
similar unlisted bonds, the Group determines the fair
values by using discounted cash flow valuation technique
with input not based on observable market data.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of the business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(vi) Valuation of suspended stocks securities
In the absence of current prices in active market of
suspended stocks investments, the Group determines
the fair values by using valuation techniques based on
information from a variety of sources, including the latest
information of the suspended stocks securities.

The total carrying amount of the suspended stocks
securities as at 30 September 2018 was HK$2,053,855
(2017: HKS$NIl).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
included margin payables and interest-bearing borrowings as
disclosed in notes 23 and 24 and equity attributable to equity
holder of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on an annual basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
payment of dividends, issue of debentures, new share issues
and share buy-back.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE BRI
For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

6. €@IA
(a) EMIEZDE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Financial assets W EE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEARBEFABREEZVBEE 465,607,032 627,113,409
Loan and receivables B3 & e FkE
— other receivables —H b E R FTE 162,038,591 163,790,117
Cash balances e &% 56,862,337 52,151,520
218,900,928 215,941,637
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 57,733,160 143,634,340
742,241,120 986,689,386
Financial liabilities M aE
Other financial liabilities at REHKANE LM BEE
amortised cost
— other payables — E {th fB {5 3R IE 15,943,215 23,775,099
— interest-bearing borrowings — i REE - 10,000,000
15,943,215 33,775,099
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

6. €T H (&)
(b) M¥EREEEERBE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’ s major financial instruments include
available-for-sale investments, financial assets at FVTPL,
other receivables, amount due from an available-for-
sale investment, bank balances, other payables and
interest-bearing borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, other price risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are substantially denominated in Hong Kong dollar.
Accordingly, the management considers the foreign
exchange risk to the Group is not significant.

(ii) Other price risk
The Group’s available-for-sale investments and
financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at end of the reporting period. Therefore, the Group
is exposed to security price risk. Management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risks at the reporting date.

In respect of available-for-sale investments and
financial assets at FVTPL, the following table
demonstrates the impact on loss before tax, other
comprehensive income and equity if the price had
been 5% (2017: 5%) higher/lower.
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6.

86

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

6. €T H (&)
(b) BIBEREEEEREXR (&)

5 EE (&)

(i) Other price risk (Continued) (i) HmmERRRK (&)
Decrease/
Carrying increase
amount of Decrease/ in other Increase/
equity/debt increase in comprehensive decrease in
investments loss before tax loss equity
BRA/BERE BRAEE HE2EER B
ZRHEE WD,/ 8 B,/ B #0,/HD
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
2018 —E-N\E§
Available-for-sale investments AHRHERE
— unlisted securities —-FEmEE 57,733,160 - 2,886,658 2,886,658
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABEREEY
HBEE
- listed securities —FHES 345,307,032 17,265,352 - 17,265,352
- bond investments —BERE 120,300,000 6,015,000 - 6,015,000
Decrease/
Carrying increase
amount of Decrease/ in other Increase/
equity/debt increase in  comprehensive decrease in
investments  loss before tax loss equity
BRA/EHRE BREAEE HEt2EEE B
ZREE R/ Em WD/ #m/
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
2017 —T—tF
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE
— unlisted securities —FEmEHR 143,634,340 = 7,181,717 7,181,717
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAREFABEREZ
HBEE
— listed securities —tmEH 525,113,409 26,255,670 = 26,255,670
— bond investments —EARE 102,000,000 5,100,000 = 5,100,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &#Z—-%

—NFAA=ZTRLEFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Other price risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits/accumulated losses) and other components
of consolidated equity that would arise assuming
that the changes in the market price or other
relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to price risk at the
end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that
none of the Group’s available-for-sale investments
would be considered impaired as a result of the
decrease in the relevant market price or other
relevant risk variables, and that all other variables
remain constant.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk for changes in market interest rates through its
investments in debt securities and interest bearing
borrowings. Change in interest rates may affect the
value of the debt securities and interest bearing
borrowings and therefore result in a potential gain
or loss to the Group.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk for changes in market interest rates through its
deposits at floating interest rates, which are subject
to variable interest rates. There would have been no
significant impact on the Group’s post-tax loss for
the year.

6. €T H (&)
(b) BIBEREEEEREXR (&)
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(iii)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at 30 September 2018 in relation to
each class of financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual financial assets at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration risk as 43% (2017:
51%) and 81% (2017: 80%) of the total prepayments,
deposits and other receivables was due from the largest
counterparty and the 6 (2017: 4) largest counterparties
respectively as at the end of the reporting period.

The credit risk on cash at banks is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
internal funding. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is
minimal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. €@ IA (®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MEEBREEBERBEE (#)

policies (Continued)
Maturity analysis PRI H 27
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRFAWAKEEZHBEER - N\F
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities as at RZT—+tFAA=Z+HZHFRE 825
30 September 2018 and 2017. The table has been drawn BR- TRDBEVBEEEZRERIBER
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial EMRAYN ZEWBAEDERBEAEEAN
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group RZEEAHSE-

is required to pay.

2018 —E-N\F
On Total
demand/ One year contractual
within to Over undiscounted Carrying
one year two years two years cash flow amount
RER/ BRRER
—£R —FEMF BEWE RERBELH REE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Other payables H b R 15,943,215 - - 15,943,215 15,943,215
2017 —T—tF
On Total
demand/ One year contractual
within to Over undiscounted Carrying
one year two years two years cash flow amount
RER/ BRARESR
—FR —FERF BARFE RERBER REE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Other payables Hit BN FR 23,775,099 - - 23,775,099 23,775,099
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 850,000 10,850,000 - 11,700,000 10,000,000
24,625,099 10,850,000 - 35,475,099 33,775,099
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair Value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

are determined as follows:

— the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask

prices respectively;

—  the fair value of financial assets suspended from
trading are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on comparable
companies method or net asset value method based
on reliable estimates of forecasted performance of
the assets with reference to market similar product;

and

— the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows and discount rate
estimated with reference to market similar products

and other relevant market information.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities at amortised cost reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group approximate
their fair values due to their immediate or short-term

maturities.

The following table presents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at end of the
reporting period across the three levels of the fair value
hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement,
with the fair value of each financial instrument
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to that fair value measurement.

The levels are defined as follows:

— Level 1: fair values measured using only Level
1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date;

—  Level 2: fair values measured using Level 2 inputs,
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1,
and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available; and

— Level 3: fair values measured using significant

unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value (Continued)

6. €T H (&)

(c) ARME ()

2018
—E-N\E

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

E—® EZ® FE= HE

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAnBEFABR
BREZVISEE

— listed securities — &S 343,253,177 = 2,053,855 345,307,032

— bond investments —EERE - - 120,300,000 120,300,000

Available-for-sale financial assets AHEZHIEEE
— unlisted securities — 3k &% - 30,000,000 27,733,160 57,733,160
343,253,177 30,000,000 150,087,015 523,340,192
2017
—E—+tF

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

FE— FE_H E=M k]

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAREGFAER
BREHWBEE

— listed securities — &S 525,113,409 - - 525,113,409

— bond investments —EHEE = — 102,000,000 102,000,000

Available-for-sale financial assets AN EZHBEE
— unlisted securities —JFELEHES - - 143,634,340 143,634,340
525,113,409 - 245,634,340 770,747,749
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value (Continued)

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured

at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The

following table gives information about how the fair

values of these financial assets are determined (in

particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Financial assets 2018
BEE “E-0\%
HK$
BT
Financial assets at FVTPL
BARBHABREEL
BBEAE
Listed securities other 343,253,177
than suspended stocks (2017
LTS (EEEERERI)  525113,409)
343,253,177
(ZZ—+%:
525,113,409)
Suspended stocks of 2,053,855
listed securities (2017: Nil)
IR EREERE 2,053,855
(ZZ—+%:
&)
Nil
(2017: Nil)
&
(ZB—t%:
&)
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Fair value
hierarchy

RAERE

Level 1
-

Level 3
BE=/

Level 3
F=H

Valuation
technique(s)

fEERH

Quoted bid price
FIREAE

Comparable companies
method
A RARE

Net asset value method
REFEA

6. €T H (&)

(c) ARME (M)
REBETUBEEDUSHRESRRZA
REHE-TERRUETZSVBREELAR
BEZzBEH (ARBMS  PAEAMGERNLE
AEIE) o

Relationships of
Significant unobservable
unobservable inputs
inputs Range to fair value
EXTTEE TABEEBA
BARE il HEEAREZER
N/A N/A N/A
T TR M
Discount for lack 40% (2017: Nil) The higher the discount

of marketability
B @R

Price-to-book
TEE

Price-to-earnings ratio

TR

Enterprise

value-to-sales ratio
rEEEHHERLX

Discount for lack
of marketability

R EHRT

40% (ZZ—+E: &)  for lack of marketability
of capital, the lower
the fair value

BT ARERERERELN
AR EHN

ratio 0.28-0.83 (2017: Nil)

0.28-0.83

(ZB—t%:8)

The higher the
price-to-book ratio,
the higher the fair value

mREBA AR EEA

2.94 (2017: Nil)
204(ZF—tF: &)

The higher the
price-to-earnings ratio,
the higher the fair value

MREXEAX AREER

0.33 (2017 Nil)
0.33(ZF—tF: &)

The higher the enterprise
value-to-sales ratio
the higher the fair value
PEEEUHERH A
RAEEX

40% (2017: Nil)
40% (ZF—+F &)

The higher the discount
for lack of marketability
of capital, the lower
the fair value

REEAEHURRAK
RAEHN
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value (Continued)

Fair value  Valuation
Financial assets 2018 hierarchy technique(s)

HBEE “E-N\E DAEHRK  MERHE
HKS
BT

Bond investments 120,300,000  Level 3 Discounted cash flow
EHRE (017:  E=§ BRAER
102,000,000)
120,300,000
(ZF—tF:
102,000,000)

Available-for-sale
financial assets
EHEZHEEE

Unlisted securities 27,733,160  Level 3 Discounted cash flow
¥LrmEs 7. E=& BREER
143,634,340)
27,733,160
(Z2—tF
143,634,340)

30,000,000  Level 2 Market approach
017:Nil)  £=#& 5%
30,000,000
(ZF—t%:
&)

During the Year, suspended stocks of listed securities
with carrying value of HK$2,053,855 as at 30 September
2018 were transferred from Level 1 to Level 3 and
unlisted securities of available-for-sale financial assets
of HK$30,000,000 were transferred from Level 3 to
Level 2. There were no other transfers between Level 1
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair
value measurements. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period in which they occur.

6. €T H (&)

(c) ARME ()

Significant
unobservable
inputs
EXTUER
BAHE

Discount rate
BEE

Free cash flow

BRAER

Weighted average
cost of capital

MEFHERRA

Discount
for lack of
marketability
Mz AR R

N/A
TER

Range

#E

4.31% to 12.90%
(2017: 11.78% to
15.30%)

4.31%£12.90%

(Z2-tF:
11.78% £15.30% )

N/A
T8

14% to 18%
(2017: 1% to
21.41%)

14%Z18%
(ZF—t#:
1% £21.41%)

18.10% to 20.32%
(2017:18.10% to
20.32%)

18.10% £20.32%

(ZB—tF:
18.10% £20.32% )

N/A
T8

Relationships of
unobservable
inputs

to fair value
FUBEEHA
UBEENAEZEE

The higher the discount rate
the lower the fair value

EREEA DAEGN

The higher the free cash
flow, the higher the
fair value

BRALREA AnEEA

The higher the
weighted average cost
of capital, the lower
the fair value
METFHERKARK
DR fE#)

The higher the discount
for lack of marketability
of capital, the lower
the fair value

RZEREHAEREA
RARERN

N/A
TER

REAFE - R=ZT—/\FALA=+H8 K@
82,053,855/ L2 L MEHF 2 EHEEBER
Z= 55— A8 A 55 = 4% 230,000,000/ 7T 2
AHEE B EECZE EMBSFBHE=
BEAE R -F—REE_RAAEFT=E
ZETEEMER TEEAE=RAAE
FTEZEAREL -AEE ZBERAREIR
BEIREHAERAAESHRERZE
B BE 5 o

Annual Report 2017/18 3 93



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value (Continued)

The reconciliation of Level 3 financial assets is as

6. €T H (&)
(c) AR{E(HE)

E=RUBEEZHERET:

follows:

At beginning of the year
Additions
Disposals/redemptions

Imputed interest of bonds
Gain/(loss) on fair value change

2018 2017

—E-)N\F —E—+tF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

RET) 245,634,340 233,021,080
RE 60,000,000 34,500,000
e HEE (90,736,000) (30,187,080)
&5 2 s F 2 5,121,000 =
AREEFHUE (BE) 2,579,000 (4,029,941)

7. TURNOVER

follows:

Impairment BB (44,565,180) (42,022,660)
Reclassification of investment due to R 5D HE M
partial disposal EFOBEKRE - 54,352,941
Transfer from Level 1 HEE R 2,053,855 =
Transfer to Level 2 BEE K (30,000,000) =
At end of the year RE AR 150,087,015 245,634,340
7. BER
The amount of each significant category of turnover is as EHERSEBHENNSEOAT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Continuing operations

Net realised loss on financial assets
at FVTPL

Net unrealised loss on financial assets
at FVTPL

Dividend income from investments
in listed securities

Interest income on amounts due from
investee companies

Bank and bond interest income

FREREXER

BARBERABRSREZMBEEL

BARBEHARSREZMBEEEL

N B3R 1R R R
BRELTRERFZBEBRA

JE W2 B R R FRIE 2 F B HA

RITREFNBHEA

(153,675,363)

(41,166,191)

(356,303,360)

(169,172,424)

82,291 159,889
5,602,524 4,893,385
9,402,527 4,250,788

(179,754,212)

(516,171,722)

Discontinued operation
Interest income on amount due from
an associate

RIERE R
JE W — PRI Bt &8 R R GRIR Z A B A

1,345,813
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7. TURNOVER (Continued)
Among the net unrealised loss on financial assets at FVTPL,
a gain of HK$2,579,000 (2017: loss of HK$4,300,000) was
related to the bond investments which were designated as
financial assets at FVTPL.

The amount of change in fair value of these bonds that
was attributable to change in credit risk of the issuers was
HK$3,652,000. It was determined as the amount of change
in fair value that was not attributable to change in market
conditions that gave rise to market risk.

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular reports reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker for decisions about
resources allocated to the Group’s business components and
for the review of the performance of those components.

The principal activity of the Group is investment in listed and
unlisted companies. Interest in an associate was regarded
as discontinued operation. The Group has identified the
operating and reportable segments as follows:

Investment in — Investments in listed securities and
financial assets unlisted bonds
at FVTPL

Investment in - Investments in unlisted securities

available-for-sale
investments

Plant and equipment, tax recoverable, accruals, interest-
bearing borrowings and certain amount of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents, were not allocated to segment.

7.

=E2-0¢ )
BARBEFANBRREE HBEEEZ AERFEE
BEEF - W 252,579,000 L (T —£F B
4,300,000 ) TV B E RIZ AR EFFABRE
BrUMBEEZERIREER-

HRETANCEERREDMEMZEESFHNA
R EPE ST R3,652,0008 L A B EEEE R
RS REGEMELEMSEBRMAERODA

AEEBRNELDE URBEETELLRKER
AEBEBHEKB D 2 ERD BRIERE Rigs %
FHRED 2 RIRER 2 EHIMERELD ALEFL

AEBZIBEBARE LM RFLETAA R
—HBERRZBERESRIELLERT KK
BEBANATEE R B®RDE:

REBRRE - REMEFK
FPABREEREZ FEEMEFZKE
MBEE

REAHEERE - RIFLMEFZIKE

BRERSEE AINERIE EAEA A BE
ETENKE R RAGEBERENRRS R
ReSEYALBAIEEH -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZHES (#)

Investment in

For the year ended 30 September 2018
BE-Z-\FNAZTHLEE

Investment in

financial assets available-for-
at FVTPL  sale investments Unallocated Total
REZNAE
FTABEREEZ RE
HBEE THHEERE RAE @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B BT B

Segment revenue 7l E (185,358,317) 5,602,524 1,581 (179,754,212)
Administrative expenses THER - - (29,403,919) (29,403,919)
Impairment losses on HNERERESS

available-for-sale investments - (41,795,121) - (41,795,121)
Segment result DEEE (185,358,317) (36,192,597) (29,402,338) (250,953,252)
Other income Het A - 8,164,000 (17,694) 8,146,306
Finance cost BEKA (615,048) - (1,000,000) (1,615,048)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (185,973,365) (28,028,597) (30,420,032) (244,421,994)
Income tax expense FEHAY - = = =
Loss for the year AEEEE (185,973,365) (28,028,597) (30,420,032) (244,421,994)
Segment assets PHEE 491,111,136 198,420,956 61,965,161 751,497,253
Segment liabilities DHEE 7,060,552 - 8,882,663 15,943,215
Other segment information Hth o HER
Net realised loss on financial assets ~ Z AL Bt ABEREZ

at FVTPL UBEEZEERERER (153,675,363) - - (153,675,363)
Net unrealised loss on financial BAABEFAERREL

assets at FVTPL MBEELRETERTS (41,166,191) = = (41,166,191)
Interest income F B YA 9,400,946 5,602,524 1,581 15,005,051
Depreciation of plant and equipment ~ FiE k&1 E - - 9,858,500 9,858,500
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZHES (#)

For the year ended 30 September 2017
BE-Z—tENAZTHILEER

Investment in

Investment in

financial assets ~ available-for-sale Continuing Discontinued
at FVTPL investments Unallocated operations operation Total
REBRRAE
AREREZ  REWMALE
WEE RE AR BEEEEER  RIEEE%E b
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B B B BT
Segment revenue 7 HE (521,075,895) 4,893,385 10,788 (516,171,722) 1,345,813 (514,825,909)
Administrative expenses THER - - (28,383,914) (28,383,914) - (28,383,914)
Impairment losses on HHERERE
available-for-sale B
investments - (41,864,660) - (41,864,660) - (41,864,660)
Segment result PEEE (521,075,895) (36,971,275) (28,373,126) (586,420,296) 1,345,813 (585,074,483)
Other income EfiA - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 15,337,796 20,337,796
Share-based payment IRHBREZFR - - (3,881,200) (3,881,200) - (3,881,200)
Finance cost BERK (8,585,269) - - (8,585,269) - (8,585,269)
Share of results of 3ol ilidUNG|
an associate E3 - - - - (748,660) (748,660)
(Loss)/profit before tax B (58) /BF (529,661,164) (31,971,275) (32,254,326) (593,886,765) 15,934,949 (577,951,816)
Income tax expense FriEiR (9,843,716) - - (9,843,716) (222,000) (10,065,716)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(BB) /BF  (539,504,880) (31,971,275) (32,254,326)  (603,730,481) 15,712,949 (588,017,532)
Segment assets NHEE 644,918,409 289,219,612 79,883,169 1,014,021,190 - 1,014,021,190
Segment liabilities ABEE 13,499,647 - 20,275,452 33,775,099 - 33,775,099
Other segment information ~ E A HEH
Net realised loss on financial A f Bt ABEEE
assets at FVTPL LUBEEZER
BEFE (356,303,360) - - (356,303,360) - (356,303,360)
Net unrealised loss on BAREAAERRE
financial assets at FVTPL ~ ZBIEEEZx%
BEFE (169,172,424) - - (169,172,424) - (169,172,424)
Interest income MERA 4,240,000 4,893,385 10,788 9,144,173 1,345,813 10,489,986
Depreciation of plant and BEREENE
equipment - - 10,907,587 10,907,587 - 10,907,587
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

The Group’s operations and specified non-current assets are

located in Hong Kong.

2 EBRE R (#)

AEBEZEERBEFRBEEIUREE -

Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment ARAEENEENERKREER AL ES
holding, there was no information regarding major customers AASBERERAEIERTFNER
as determined by the Group.
9. OTHER INCOME, NET 9. Hih A FRE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Continuing operations BRERSEEL
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEERE WS
investment 8,164,000 5,000,000
Sundry income HIEU A 306 -
Written-off of other payables and Hb 8 EC A FE S FRIE K
other receivables, net H fh fE Y RIR R (18,000) =
8,146,306 5,000,000
Discontinued operation HIEREEK
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RENBAE 2 W - 15,337,796
10. FINANCE COST 10. B E KA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$ HK$
BT B IT
Continuing operations HERSEXER
Interest expenses on borrowings: BEZAMERAS:
— margin accounts —FREP 615,048 8,585,269
— bond payables —EREH 1,000,000 —
1,615,048 8,585,269
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11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 1. R ATE 18
The Group’s loss before tax has been arrived at after REBZRBABEDOR:
charging:
2018 2017
—E-N\fF —E—tF
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Continuing operations BEEEXR
Directors’ emoluments EEME 1,500,000 1,293,333
Staff costs 8 TR A
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — %% 284 & H {th 48 F| 2,871,898 2,528,048
— MPF Scheme contributions —RIE BT B 80,518 68,085
Total staff costs @8 TR 4,452,416 3,889,466
Auditor’s remuneration e G 550,000 550,000
Depreciation of plant and equipment BB N EREITE 9,858,500 10,907,587
Interest on margin payables ERfFRRIEZFE 615,048 8,585,269
Bond interest expenses BHEMNBRZ 1,000,000 =
Operating lease rentals KERH B 134,200 22,000
Donation 1B 3,151,413 88,000
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FISHEAX
(a) The amount of taxation expenses charged to the (a) BireBEmRMBR2HERSIE:
consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Continuing operations BESEER
Current tax expense BVHARR 1B 2 = =
Deferred tax expense PEEFE AR & - 9,843,716
- 9,843,716
Discontinued operation BRI RE T
Current tax expense BN HERRR IE 7 &2 = 222,000
Deferred tax expense EEFERA X - =
- 222,000
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

NFARA=Z+RIEFE

12,

Hong Kong Profits Tax is arrived at 16.5% on the

estimated assessable profits for the Year 2018 and 2017.

The income tax for the Year 2018 and 2017 can be
reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated

statement of profit or loss as follows:

i8R (&)
(a) (#&)
EANBH IR - N\R_ZT—+FE

2 b5t BESR B B FLA16.5% 5t B

TE-N\RZZE—LFEZHERATELS
AR ZBHATEEERNT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$ HK$
7T AT

Continuing operations FFEREET
Loss before tax B E AT E 1B (244,421,994) (593,886,765)
Nominal tax at domestic income tax L ZAHIFTIST F16.5% 1 H 2 B EFIH

rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) (ZZT—t5:16.5%) (40,329,629) (97,991,317)

Tax effect of income not taxable for

BAFRBRBAZHIEHE

tax purpose (1,360,893) (17,125,309)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A 175 52 ) 7 #7657 &

for tax purpose 7,857,119 26,728,483
Tax effect of temporary differences AERERER BB E

not recognised 1,820,488 (3,124)
Tax effect of origination and reversal E4 KO EREE I RETE

of temporary differences - 19,370,218
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR Z HIBEE 2 Hi5 T2 32,193,520 78,864,765
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised 7N & 8) B 4 FE R ER

tax loss utilised in the year TRIB 18 2 TS 7 & (180,605) -
Income tax expense Fir 1S Bt 2 - 9,843,716
Discontinued operation B RERETE
Profit before tax B B Al 22 A = 15,934,949
Nominal tax at domestic income tax A FTS T #16.5% 51 & 2 B & IA

rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) (ZZE—+tF:16.5%) - 2,629,266
Tax effect of share of results of JEh—HBE RRIER B E

an associate - 123,529
Tax effect of income not taxable for BRI AZ R 2

tax purpose - (2,530,795)
Income tax expense Fir 1S Bt 2 - 222,000
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(a) (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses of HK$796,285,063 (2017: HK$602,267,391)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profits stream.

(b) The component of deferred tax liabilities,/(assets)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the Year 2018 and
2017 are as follows:

12. FTS BB X ()
(a) (#&)
RBERAR AEB2ADAREES
8 /4796,285,063B L (=T —+ F:
602,267,391/ 7T) - Al L E B AR K B A -
RARBETERIRRBF R - A m R B AT
BEBEREERBEE-

(b) REF—NB-F—FE REAHBHR
REBBZBLEHELE (AE)BHR
SHHIIWT

Net unrealised
gain/(loss) on

financial assets Unused tax
at FVTPL losses Total
BARBRA
BaRBE %
BEZRER
Wz (E48) REBHIE
F g st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Continuing operations REREXRYE
At 30 September 2016 RZZE—A"FENLA=TH 20,509,355 (30,353,071) (9,843,716)
Credited to profit or loss for the year STALRFE B (20,509,355) 30,353,071 9,843,716
At 30 September 2017 RZE—tFNA=1H = = =
Charged to profit or loss for the year EAFEENR - - =
At 30 September 2018 RZZE-\FLA=TH = = =
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 21 December 2016, the Company and an independent RZE—AREF+ZAZ+—H ARAEH—FE
third party (the “Counterparty”) entered into a formal sale and VE=ZA(IRGEFILEREE % &
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company sold It ARF B MR 5% 7 & Kendervon Profits
34 shares or 34% of the share capital of Kendervon Profits Inc. ([Kendervon | ) 2 340% I 15 3t34% AR 7N ©
Inc. (“Kendervon”) to the Counterparty. Upon completion RZE—RF+_A=Z+—HEX LA FHE "

of the aforesaid transaction on 31 December 2016, the
Company’s shareholding in Kendervon decreased to 66% and
the Counterparty held 34% equity interest in Kendervon, the
Company’s equity interest in CNI Bullion Limited decreased
from 30% to 19.8%, and the Company had resigned as the
sole director of Kendervon on 31 December 2016. As at
30 September 2018, the amount due from CNI Bullion Limited
was HK$69,658,187 (2017: HK$84,055,663), which was
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables of

HK$162,330,258 (2017: HK$163,790,117) (see note 19).

The profit for the Year 2017 from discontinued operation was

analysed as follows:

A2 A R Kendervon 2 I # & 2> £66% -+ i1 &
5 % 757 ¥ 5 Kendervon [ # 2 34% * AN 2 & i
FEILFSBREERARAZBREHA30% THRE
19.8% AABNMERZT—A~"E+_A=+—
HEfffKendervon 2 —EFE-RN_F— \F
NA=Z+HB EBRTBEILELFSREFR A AR
T8 /469,658,187 7T ( — = — £ 4 : 84,055,663
BIL) EFATENRIE - Re R H A EKRKIE
162,330,258/ 7T ( — T —+ 4 1 163,790,117#
TT) A (RLEE19) -

TR LEFERUERERB B MMT :

2017
—E—+F
HK$
BT
Interest income on amount due from CNI Bullion R HEIL T 2REBRAA
Limited (as an associate) (tEREE AR B2 B A 1,345,813
Share of loss of CNI Bullion Limited (as an associate) e B 5 £ BEFR AR
(fEREtE N E)) B8 (748,660)
Gain on disposal of Kendervon H £ Kendervon 2 25 15,337,796
Current tax expense BIVEA R I8 B 2 (222,000)
15,712,949
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 13. fg BREXEK (&)
During the period from 1 October 2016 to 31 December 2016 T E-RFTA—HEZZE—XRF+=A
(the completion date of disposal of Kendervon), Kendervon =+—8 (& Kendervon 2 7*:552 HE) BRI -
Kendervon iz 8 i 52 (F o] Yz o i =2 - 1B 1 3L 7%
recognised share of loss of CNI Bullion Limited as associate HERRELTRRILSSRERR AR (EAH
of HK$748,660 for the period, which have been included in BRA))EET748,6608 T ZEEEEFALRE
ER—_Z—tFEzHREaERK

S‘;

has not recognised any revenue or expenses, but only

the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss for the

Year 2017.

During the period from 1 October 2016 to 31 December 2016, RZEBE-—REFTA-—BE-ZE-—XF+=A

Kendervon Group did not generate any cash flows. = +—H 8§ ' Kendervon % [& I 8 = & (£ A 37
BIRE °

Kendervon s RN AN B L K E B (8]

which the Group lost control (i.e. 31 December 2016) were ZE-RNFTZA=t+T—"B)MEEFER
67,015,1447% 7T * 188 7 Kendervon 7 Bl 4t 75
CREBRAF (ERBEQR) 2z BRI HF
Bldt 7 @ RE AR A F 2%z 5N Kendervon &
ER—ZE—R"E+-_A=+—ALETMEMLE

The net assets of Kendervon Group as at the date on

HK$67,015,144, which represented Kendervon’s interests
in CNI Bullion Limited as associate. Save for the interest in
CNI Bullion Limited, Kendervon Group did not have any other

asset or liability as at 31 December 2016.

EXAE-
2017
—T—tfF
HK$
BT
Gain on disposal of the Kendervon Group: H & Kendervon & B 2 W 3 :
Consideration KRB 28,000,000
Recognition of an available-for-sale investment ERA M HEHRE (B Kendervon 2 66% % 1 )
(i.e. 66% equity interest in Kendervon) 54,352,940
Net assets disposed of FTHEEEFE (67,015,144)
15,337,796
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZHESRAZRE:
Consideration of the disposal in cash and HEReRReEFEMZRE
cash equivalents 28,000,000

R TER B B2 6 EGRIR (KTaE19)

Less: Receivable for the disposal as at the
completion date (Note 19) (14,000,000)

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FTHEREMBESEEYD -

14,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &2 —Z—

14.

15.

B REERAR A

NFARA=Z+RIEFE

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the Year (2017: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share — continuing and
discontinued operation are based on the Group’s loss for
the Year attributable to the equity holders of the Company of
HK$244,421,994 (2017: HK$588,017,532).

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share —
continuing operations are based on the Group’s loss for the
Year from continuing operations of HK$244,421,994 (2017:
HK$603,730,481).

For the Year 2017, the calculation of basic and diluted
earnings per share — discontinued operation are based on
the Group’s profit for the Year 2017 discontinued operation of
HK$15,712,949.

The above basic and diluted loss/earnings per share based
on the weighted average number of 2,754,882,496 (2017:
1,874,308,478) ordinary shares in issue during the Year.

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the Year. The share options outstanding during
the Year 2017 were anti-dilutive.
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244,421,994 7T ( —ZF —+ £ :588,017,532/&
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EAEBERBEFEL S X 2 E1E244,421,994
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

16. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 16. EEREREEEMS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM =
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five ENZENTRE (ZE—LF - LR)ES
(2017: seven) directors were as follows: EBZHME0T:
2018 —E-N\F

Other emoluments

Hitt &
Salaries,
allowances,
and other  Performance = MPF Scheme
Fees benefits bonus contributions Total
E2 = BES
e REMEER BARA HEJGE @it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Executive directors: HTES:
Chan Cheong Yee SEEES 600,000 - - - 600,000
Kong Fanpeng HLALEE 480,000 = = = 480,000
Independent non-executive BYUFYTES:
directors:
Cheung Wai Kin RIZE 180,000 = = = 180,000
Lai Fun Yin REE 120,000 - - - 120,000
Lee Ming Gin ZHE 120,000 - - - 120,000

1,500,000 = =

1,500,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

16. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 16. EERSRAEEEM S (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM =2 (&)
2017 —E—+F

Other emoluments

kA

Salaries,
allowances,
and other Performance ~ MPF Scheme

Fees benefits bonus contributions Total
He 2 ®wiEE
e REMEF BEaies I H@Er
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT o BT o BT
Executive directors: HTES:
Chan Cheong Yee HEZE 600,000 - - - 600,000
Kong Fanpeng HAS 390,000 - - - 390,000
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Cheung Wai Kin (Appointed on ~ 3Rf2f (R
27 September 2017) “E—+tHFNA
“++HHEZT) 2,000 - - - 2,000
Lai Fun Yin (Appointed on REE (R
27 June 2017) T —tHFRA
“t+HBEZME) 31,333 - - - 31,333
Lam Kwan (Resigned on mME(R=F—t4F
30 June 2017) NAZTHEE) 90,000 = = = 90,000
Lee Ming Gin ZHE 120,000 - - - 120,000
Ong Chi King (Resigned on FFE (R
31 March 2017) “Z—+%=H
=+—HEHE) 60,000 - - - 60,000
1,293,333 - - - 1,293,333
The directors’ fees shown above represented ERMESHEE —BALTHRELES (&
emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s wWAAARKENBARERZES) 2R
services as a director, whether of the Company or its BEEZNRER S -
subsidiary undertakings.
No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments RZEBE-NA\RZZE—LFE WEEZWRE
during the Years 2018 and 2017. No incentive payment FRAEREAAMME - R_FE—AKZZF
for joining the Group or compensation for loss for office —tFE BERTANEZESINKENEM
was paid or payable to any director during the Years B - tEAE I AKRSEE 2 82 E) sk 1E R B
2018 and 2017. MG -
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e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

16. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
The remuneration of directors including the performance
bonus is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individual and
market trends.

(b) Senior management’s emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group during the Year, two (2017: two) were directors
of the Company whose emoluments were set out above.

16. EERSREEEMS (&)

(a) EEM= (&)
EZFM(BREREAL) DAFMEE S
REBEMALZERRAEMSBEEMET -

(b) EREEEME
FEEREAFEZLE&SHEALEEM
H(ZFE—LEF MB)ARRESR HFH
CEREX-EHBR=FR(ZF—tF:=%)

The emoluments of the remaining three (2017: three) BB ATZHMemT:
highest paid individuals were as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
HK$ HK$
BT Vow
Salaries, allowances and other e EaREMET
benefits 2,020,936 1,695,747
MPF Scheme contributions SRR B T B K 36,000 36,000
2,056,936 1,731,747

The emoluments of the three (2017: three) highest paid
individuals fall in the following band:

B = 48 5
Z£ 51,000,000 7T

Emoluments band
Nil — HK$1,000,000

ZHR(ZE—+tF  ZR)Bed ATz
BLAT 4R

Number of individuals

AE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+F
3 3

No incentive payment for joining the Group or
compensation for loss for office was paid or payable
to any highest paid individuals (including directors and
other employees) during the Years 2018 and 2017.

RZFB-N\R_T—tFE BEREX
BHAT(BEREEREMER) XHH/E
NEAME EREMARNERZ 2R %E
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. MERZE
Furniture Office Motor
and fixtures equipment Computers vehicles Vessel Total
BRREE BAERE £ RE e @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B BT B ou
COST BA
At 1 October 2016, RZE—-A~E+A—H"
30 September 2017, “Z—tFAA=TAH
1 October 2017 and ZE—+F+RA-HR
30 September 2018 i 318,736 215,432 169,300 8,326,306 32,216,386 41,246,160
ACCUMULATED 2 E
DEPRECIATION
At 1 October 2016 S 318,736 215,432 169,300 2,319,044 8,493,095 11,515,607
Charge for the year ﬂ;i};%ﬁ% - - - 2081577 8826010 10,907,587
At 30 September 2017 and RZE—tFNA=THK
at 1 October 2017 R-ZE—+&+HA—H 318,736 215,432 169,300 4,400,621 17,319,105 22,423,194
Charge for the year AEEHE - - - 2,081,576 7,776,924 9,858,500
As at 30 September 2018 R-—F-—N\EAA=1H 318,736 215,432 169,300 6,482,197 25,096,029 32,281,694
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
As at 30 September 2018 RZE-NFNA=1H - - - 1,844,109 7,120,357 8,964,466
As at 30 September 2017 R-ZF—+FNA=1H - - - 3,925,685 14,897,281 18,822,966
18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 18. M HERE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$ HK$
BT 7T
Unlisted securities, at fair value BARBEHEZIEEMES 57,733,160 143,634,340
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 18. AAMHERE (&)
(Continued)
The movement in the change of fair value is as follows:

N

AABEESH BHBERMT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

Notes HK$ HK$
b &t BT BT

At beginning of the year R E ) 143,634,340 126,721,080

Additions NE - 34,500,000

Change in fair values NABEEE (a) - 270,059

Disposals & (b) (41,336,000) (30,187,080)

Impairment BB (c) (44,565,180) (42,022,660)

Reclassification of investment due to HRBHOLEMEHRHFIRE

partial disposal (d) - 54,352,941

At end of the year RER 57,733,160 143,634,340

Notes: B iz -

(@) Included in other comprehensive loss is an amount of (a) FAEMEEEEOSEE270,098 T (ZF—+
HK$270,059 (2017: loss of HK$75,021), which relates to unlisted FEIET5,0218 ) NRAFERFAEZIER
equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments held AP ERENELTRAZFLFEHILZY A
at the end of the Year and is reported as changes in investment BEMRFEBE2EY ZoEENA:
revaluation reserve. The amount is represented by:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Reclassification adjustments for amounts BEEEIEZ 2 @B 2 EHM D HAE:

transferred to profit or loss:

Gain on disposal & s 2,500,000 (187,080)
Impairment losses B (2,770,059) (158,000)
Change in fair value during the year FARAREE - 270,059
(270,059) (75,021)
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The Group has completed the disposals of its investments in
Uni-Venture International Investment Limited and Pure Power
Holdings Limited with carrying amounts of HK$32,000,000
and HK$9,336,000 at consideration of HK$40,000,000
and HK$12,000,000 respectively. The gain on disposal of
HK$5,500,000 and HK$2,664,000 respectively were recorded in
the Year 2018.

During the Year 2017, the Group had completed the disposal
of its investment in Starfame Investments Limited with carrying
amount of HK$30,187,000 at consideration of HK$35,000,000.
The gain on disposal of HK$5,000,000 was recorded in the Year
2017.

For the Years 2018 and 2017, certain unlisted available-for-
sale investments were individually determined to be impaired
on the basis of a material decline in their fair value below cost
and adverse changes in the market in which these investees
operated which indicated that the cost of the Group’s investment
in them may not be recovered.

Because of the transaction described in note 13, the Group’s
investment in Kendervon was reclassified as available-for-sale
investments on 31 December 2016.
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18. I HERE (&)

Kzt (%)

(b)

AEBED KL EREESD 7 A32,000,000%
7 %.9,336,0007% 7T 72 Uni-Venture International
Investment Limited } Pure Power Holdings
Limited 2 % & - L € /540,000,000/8 7T &
12,000,000 T - R =T — NFH Bl B HE K
#5,500,000/% 7T }22,664,000/% 7T °

RZZ—tFE AEBEEZKLEEEEAR
30,187,000 TR ERBKEEERARIZKRE R
18 535,000,000 L - R =T —tFEHBEHE
I 255,000,000 7T °

R-FB-N\R_F—tFE BETHFLTAHE
EREMEMNEETACRE NEEBREZAA
BERAETREERKAREAREHRAELED
BHBRAME AW BRAEE 2 RE KA BT
RN B A i A E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(Continued)

The fair values of the Group’s unlisted bonds issued in Hong
Kong were measured using valuation techniques in which
some significant inputs are not based on observable market
data.

Details of the principal unlisted equity securities represent
investments in private entities as at 30 September 2018 are

as follows:
Particulars
Place of of equity Acquisition
Name incorporation interest held cost
iR &
£R EMRIBE  BEFE W F A
HKS$
B
Kendervon Profits Inc. BVI Ordinary share 54,352,941

(‘Kendervon’) (Note) (#f7) EBRZHES LRk

Kendervon is one of the ten largest investments of the
Group as at 30 September 2018. The remaining nine of the
ten largest investments of the Group as at 30 September
2018 are disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Note:

Kendervon is an investment holding company, holding 30% equity
interest of its associate, CNI Bullion Limited, which is principally
engaged in the provision of services of trading of gold in gold market.
Kendervon is an unlisted company. No dividend was received by the
Group during the year ended 30 September 2018. The unaudited
net loss for the year ended 30 September 2018 and net asset
value attributable to equity holders as at 30 September 2018 were
approximately HK$2,900,000 and HK$76,400,000 respectively.

The fair value of the interest held in Kendervon was arrived at by
the directors with reference to the subsequent sale consideration of
HK$30,000,000.

The Group is unable to exercise significant influence over Kendervon
as the Group does not have the power to appoint any director of
Kendervon and does not participate in Kendervon’s policy-making
processes.

18. I HERE (&)

AEBERBEARTZFLTERZAAETER
YHRABRTSHBFEETERGAREZ
HEXMEE-

RIB-NFNA=ZTRAZTEZFLTREES
(FERFLARBZERE)FBWOT

Percentage
of equity interest ~ Net asset value
Unrealised loss attributable attributable
Fair value recognised to the Group to the Group
BREAX  AREELRK KEEELR
D BRER READN EERE
HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT
30,000,000 (24,352,941) 66% 50,424,000

R=ZZ—\FNA=1H" Kendervon B4 & H
FTAREBEERRFHN—H-R=ZTE—-—NFhLA=T
H ASE+ABEQARZEBNERRBERE
& B 75 S 3R MY 5E20 9% B8 o

R

Kendervon & — MR EER AR HEEHKE QA aF
T EREBRAFI0%KE  ZMERRNEEH ST
RESTHZ2E5 ¢ B BEREIR - Kendervon A3E £
ARA-RBE_Z-—N\FAA=ZTHLEEAREFRY &
KWEREARE -BE-S—N\FLA=THLEEFEZRX
RERBEFELN -_Z-—N\FLA=THZRERHE
A JER B EFED 7 A #)2,900,000/% 7T 276,400,000
HIT o

Kendervon i Bk < AR EHESTLLEZHEREE

(& 430,000,000/ T LATEZ X ©

AE@EE Y Kendervon TTIEEAFE REALXEE
4 Z (f Kendervon (£ A & 5 [ I % 22 B1 Kendervon JR
B
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

19. BARE -RERHtEKRFE

RECEIVABLES
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$ HK$
&t BT BT
Prepayments and deposits ENRERES 291,667 399,845
Margin receivables FEWFF R FRIA (a) 21,350,795 17,805,000
Amount due from an JE W AT 4 S 1 B IR
available-for-sale investment (b) 69,658,187 84,055,663
Amount receivable on disposal H & Kendervon 2 JEU I8 (f15£13)
of Kendervon (Note 13) 10,000,000 14,000,000
Amounts receivable on disposal HEHEERE 2 BKKIE
of available-for-sale investments (c) 61,029,609 47,529,609
162,330,258 163,790,117

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables at the end of the reporting period approximated
their fair values.

Notes:

(a)

Margin receivables are generated from investment in financial
assets at FVTPL, with interest rates ranged from 0.001% to
0.003% (2017: 0.001% to 0.003%) per annum for the Year.

The amount was made for financing the business of CNI Bullion
Limited, an associate of Kendervon, and was unsecured,
interest-bearing at 8% (2017: 8%) per annum and repayable on
demand.

The balance is represented by receivables from the purchasers
of:

RBEMR - AMNRE R REMBYRRIEAZ
FREEEEARERSE-

Wit -
(a)

REFE RERAARBFABRIER 2HBE
E P EE A 2 JE MR FF R SRIR T 3R F A X A1 F£0.001

[EZ0.003E (—Z—t%:0.001E X0.003F ) 5t
S

Z FE Th B Kendervon Z B & A B R B 4L 5 & R

EXERABDEBBAEMIEL  HEER ZEHE
8E(—F—tF:8E)FFERAREREE-

HBRBATER R RELS

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—tF

HK$ HK$

BT AIT

Starfame Investments Limited EREEERRAQA 20,000,000 30,000,000
IIN Network Education (BVI) Limited 1IN Network Education (BVI) Limited 864,732 8,864,732
UCCTV Holdings Limited UCCTV Holdings Limited 664,877 8,664,877
Uni-Venture International Investment Limited Uni-Venture International Investment Limited 30,500,000 -
Others Hh 9,000,000 -
61,029,609 47,529,609

None of the above amount was past due as at 30 September
2018. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20 EARESFABEREECHMBERE
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at FVTPL as at 30 September 2018 RZE-—NENAZ+HRAABEF ABREE
comprise: ZEIEEERE:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Fair value: NRfE:
Unlisted bonds issued in Hong Kong REBERITZIELMES 120,300,000 102,000,000
Listed securities held for trading HEEE LMES
— listed in Hong Kong other than —BELW (EEEERERIN
suspended stocks 343,253,177 518,616,701
— suspended stocks listed in Hong Kong —BRALTZEEEERE 2,053,855 =
— listed outside Hong Kong —BBWINET - 6,496,708
465,607,032 627,113,409
All of the Group’s unlisted bonds issued in Hong Kong were REBEITZAEBEEREELTMELFNIEE AR
designated as financial assets at FVTPL. AREFAEERECWEEE-
The fair values of the Group’s unlisted bonds issued in Hong AEBREBBRTZIELTERZAARBLFER
Kong were measured using valuation techniques in which BT WERABERMSEBRTENENE AR
some significant inputs are not based on observable market ZIEERMErE -
data.

Annual Report 2017/18 &3 113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Particulars of the bonds, of which all three of them are
included in the ten largest investments of the Group held as
at 30 September 2018, are as follows:

Place of Acquisition
Name Note incorporation cost
a8 W# BMRILH I B AR
HK$
B
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (i) Cayman Islands 30,000,000
(‘Hao Wen") HEHS
ExERERAR ([83])
Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (i) Hong Kong 54,000,000
(“Gold Medal’) Bh
cHEBERAR ([2%])
Sincere Smart International (iif) ~ British Virgin Islands 30,000,000
Limited (“Sincere Smart’) (“BVI")
Sincere Smart International ABRAES
Limited ([ Sincere Smart |) ([RBEXES])

Notes:

(i) Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. Hao Wen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in money lending, manufacturing of biomass fuel
product and trading of electronic parts. It is listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8019). There is no provision
of terms in the agreement regarding early redemption rights.
No interest was received from Hao Wen for the year ended
30 September 2018.
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20 RAORETFABSRE2MBEE (&)

& 55

(ZEYBRER_E—N\FNLA=Z+H#EE

ZAEBTARRERN) ZHBHT:

Fair value as at
30 September
2018
RZB-N\%F
hAZ+EZ
A

HK$

BT

32,900,000

52,000,000

35,400,000

Hiat -

Unrealised
gain/(loss) Coupon
recognised  Terms rate p.a.
EREA
KERWE/
(F#8) HR FEEX
HK$ %
BT
568,000  From 12 January 1%
2018 to
11 January 2021
“E-N\F
—A+=B%
—T_—F
~At-A
(2,216,000)  From 12 September 8%
2018 to
11 September 2020
“EN\F
NE+=RZE
ZRCRE
NA+—H
2,827,000  From 9 January 12%
2018 to
8 January 2020
“EN\F
—AnBZE
Z2C%E
—ANH

XX HEREEMALZBR R A 4
XEEMBARERCERE EEEMEMRE
EmMEFTENHES KRB RZMGEM L (fx
DA% - 8019) 17575 3t 7 B4R Al 12 4 2 {6k
REBE-Z-NFAA=ZTHLFE XEALH
SCUYERF B o
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For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) Gold Medal is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and principally engaged in money lending business.
It is a wholly owned subsidiary of WLS Holdings Limited, the
guarantor of the bond, which is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8021). According to the terms of the
agreement and subject to certain conditions, both the Group and
Gold Medal have the early redemption rights as follows:

The Group can request early redemption of the bond at 100%
of the outstanding principal amount and 50% of the outstanding
coupon.

Gold Medal can early redeem the bond at 100% of the total
amount of such bond together with any payment of interests
accrued up to the date of early redemption. An additional 1% will
be given to the Group, together with the outstanding principal
and coupon. No interest was received from Gold Medal for the
year ended 30 September 2018.

(iii) Sincere Smart is a company incorporated in BVI with limited
liability and principally engaged in the application software
industry in Hong Kong and the PRC specialising in information
management solutions offered as SaaS through ERP cloud
platform addressing business requirements of the retail and
services industries. There is no provision of terms in the
agreement regarding early redemption rights. No interest was
received from Sincere Smart for the year ended 30 September
2018.

The movement in the change of fair value in unlisted bonds is

20 RAORETFABSRE2MBEE (&)

Wizt - (%)

(ih)

(iii)

A BREBEMALZERAR TEH
EREEK -HABEHFERANERZERBR QA
(REEZXFTGEM £ (BR1HD K 5:8021) )22 &
ME QR BB HE 2GR ERETHRERRT
REBRESHEIHE N TIRATER 2 :

AE A ESRIZ100% 2 K EE AR S KR50% 2
AERRSRABERES -

SRR BEES ZAEN100% & R E = =2 A
B @ B H A A ST AS A BRAR A 5 o MY
M%ERKEERASRREBRTAREE KB
E-T-N\FAA=ZTHLEFE UEASEK
HRA B -

Sincere Smart2 — MR EBE XS ML
ZHERAR IKEAE/%&'Z?:‘I%%JE%&JE@
1% BROCEERTEERTE  FFEARMG
EBRYE REEANETEMARAIER ﬁﬁr/?&f%&ﬁ}ﬁ
BENEB TR - & A IR E LR EZ K
X-REBEE-ZT—/\FNAZ1+HLEE FHEH
Sincere Smart Y HLFI &

FEMEFZOABEBRZFHNT

as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of the year R E ) 102,000,000 106,300,000
Redemptions fE (O] (49,400,000) =
Additions N 60,000,000 -
Imputed interest Est A B 5,121,000 =
Gain/(loss) on fair value changes AREEFHWNE (BE) 2,579,000 (4,300,000)
At end of the year RER 120,300,000 102,000,000

The fair values of the Group’s listed securities other than the
suspended stocks held for trading were determined based
on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant
exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

AEEFEEELTES (BREBEBRREKI)
ZAREDRBEMRREBRZAAEZT%
BEARBESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &l Z=Z— \FAA=+HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20 EARBEFAEBEREEBECHMBEEE (&)
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of the Group’s listed suspended stocks AEECEEEEN LMRECARBIERE
were measured using valuation techniques in which some TUWIERAIBEMSHBTENERBARE
significant inputs are not based on observable market data. HERMETE -

Particulars of the listed securities, which are included in the IWEHF(BERZZE-—/\FLA=TAFEZ
ten largest investments of the Group held as at 30 September KEBTKEERN) 2FBRAT:

2018, are as follows:

Percentage
Market value of equity
Particulars as at Unrealised interest Net assets
Place of of equity Acquisition 30 September gain/(loss) attributable attributable to
Name Notes incorporation interest held cost 2018 recognised to the Group the Group
FiRA R=B-N\%F BRRREE  AEEEARE KEBERS
L Wi ERMEILE R KBRA NA=TRZHE Wit/ (F8) EREADL BEFE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Pantronics Holdings Limited (i BVI Ordinary shares 21,743,966 68,648,040 46,904,074 4.90% 6,603,610
Rk ERER AR ERRAES LER
Larry Jewelry International Company (i) Bermuda Ordinary shares 59,466,132 35,015,860 (24,450,272) 4.63% (5,655,319)
Limited BRE LER
EXERERERAF
EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (i)~ Cayman Islands Ordinary shares 16,201,597 25,771,680 9,570,083 4.95% 15,760,994
EREM(BB)BRERAR ReHS EER
Wang Yang Holdings Limited (iv)  Cayman Islands Ordinary shares 19,793,466 25,142,880 5,349,414 4.86% 9,162,691
ARERERAE ReHS EER
WLS Holdings Limited (v)  Cayman Islands* Ordinary shares 43,217,040 24,857,500 (18,359,540) 3.46% 23,759,880
ERZERERAA Rexs* EER
China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited ()  Bermuda Ordinary shares 57,206,891 28,967,500 (28,239,391) 4.22% 24,400,512
HEEEXAREERAR BRE EER
* Continued in Bermuda with limited liability * REREGEZERAR
Another one of the ten largest investments of the Group AEERZZE-—N\FNA=Z+THZE—ETKRE
as at 30 September 2018 is disclosed in note 18 to these BIRBERANGRE I EIRERMIEE18 -

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

Pantronics Holdings Limited (stock code: 1611) and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the contract
manufacturing, on electronic manufacturing services basis, of a
wide range of power-related and electrical products. No dividend
was received by the Group during the year ended 30 September
2018. Net profit attributable to equity holders of approximately
HK$7 million was recognised for the year ended 30 September
2018. According to the latest published consolidated financial
statements of Pantronics Holdings Limited as at 30 September
2018, its net asset value attributable to equity holders was
approximately HK$135 million.

Larry Jewelry International Company Limited (stock code: 8351)
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in design and
retailing of jewelry products and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical
products, dried seafood, health products and foodstuffs. No
dividend was received by the Group during the year ended
30 September 2018. Net loss attributable to equity holders
of approximately HK$41 million was recognised for the six
months ended 30 June 2018. According to the latest published
consolidated financial statements of Larry Jewelry International
Company Limited as at 30 June 2018, its negative net asset
value attributable to equity holders was approximately HK$122
million.

EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (stock code: 8101) and its
subsidiaries are (i) manufacture of custom-made furniture in
the PRC; (ii) design, manufacture and sale of mattress and
soft bed products in the PRC and export mattress to overseas
markets; (iii) securities investment in Hong Kong; (iv) property
investment in Hong Kong; and (v) money lending in Hong Kong.
No dividend was received by the Group during the year ended
30 September 2018. Net loss attributable to equity holders of
approximately HK$6 million was recognized for the six months
ended 30 September 2018. According to the latest published
consolidated financial statements of EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings
Limited as at 30 September 2018, its net asset value attributable
to equity holders was approximately HK$318 million.

20 RAORETFABSRE2MBEE (&)

Wit -

V)

(iii)

WA ERER DA (BRI 1611) REKE
AR TERBETRERBEEL =TS EERAH
REFEMMNAORE RBE_ZFT-N\F1A
ZTRALEFEASEYEERIENRE - REE
—E-N\FALAZTHALFEERBRERA A
JE {58 % 58 73 497,000,00078 7T © 4R 45 7 B 2 AR
ERAAR-ZF-NFAA=ZTRHZRATE
FAVBHRR ERERAAREEEFERD
135,000,000/% T °

EXBELEERBRAR (BRMKBAR:8351) REM
BRRATERAERALRTEURTERARBEEF
B 8K REEMERRM REE-ZT—)\F
NAZ+BLEFERAER Y BEBMEMBKS R
BE-Z—N\FXNA=ZTAILNEAERRERS
B A AL B 18F 58 A 4941,000,0007% 7T © iR IR &
XEABRBRAERATAR-ZE-N\ENA=+EZ
SO TRGEVBRE EREFAEABERE
B F{E A 49122,000,0005 7T °

EREwR (BE)ERAERAF (MK :8101)
REMBRABTNESER: ()R EEERTERE

(iERBR HiEREERSE RBRIRE R M
BINTIZHE RIRE (i) REBETEFEE S (iv)
REBETHERE RVREBERE-REBZE
—Z-N\FAA=1+H L FEAREE L EREE
ARkE-REBEE=_T—\FALA=1TAHILEAEA

RIS A A JE(L 518 )F 58 /496,000,000 7T
BEERER (BB)ERERABDNR-ZT—N\F
NAZ+TBEZHARBGREVHRE  ERES
B AFE(L & EF1E /549318,000,0007% 7T
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Wang Yang Holdings Limited (stock code: 1735) and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of
foundation works and superstructure building works in Hong
Kong. No dividend was received by the Group during the year
ended 30 September 2018. Net profit attributable to equity
holders of approximately HK$4 million was recognised for the
six months ended 30 September 2018. According to the latest
published consolidated financial statements of Wang Yang
Holdings Limited as at 30 September 2018, its net asset value
attributable to equity holders was approximately HK$189 million.

(v)  WLS Holdings Limited (stock code: 8021) and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding, fitting out
services and other services for construction and buildings work,
provision of gondolas, parapet railings and access equipment
installation, maintenance services, money lending business,
securities brokerage, margin financing, securities investment
business and assets management business. No dividend was
received by the Group during the year ended 30 September
2018. Net loss attributable to equity holders of approximately
HK$23 million was recognised for the six months ended
31 October 2018. According to the latest published consolidated
financial statements of WLS Holdings Limited as at 31 October
2018, its net asset value attributable to equity holders was
approximately HK$687 million.

(vi) China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (stock code: 0802)
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) investment in
financial assets; (ii) hardware and software developments; (iii)
provision of consultancy services; (iv) research and development
of RFID solution; (v) the development of internet and web
software; and (vi) computer system developments. No dividend
was received by the Group during the year ended 30 September
2018. Net loss attributable to equity holders of approximately
HK$8 million was recognised for the six months ended 30 June
2018. According to the latest published consolidated financial
statements of China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited as at
30 June 2018, its net asset value attributable to equity holders
was approximately HK$578 million.

The Group has pledged the financial assets at FVTPL of

HK$312,965,413 (2017: HK$475,990,851) to secure the margin
payables granted to the Group.
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20 RAORETFABSRE2MBEE (&)

Kzt (#)

(iv)

(vi)

BLBIERBRAE (RMHMRE:1735) REKE
ARAIEEZREBREABEMETRER FEFET
BEB-REBEE-T—N\FALA=ZTBHLEER
SETERDRAEMRE -REE=_FT—-N\FNA
—tHIEARNEAERRERE ARG FEA
#)4,000,0008 T IREALBIER AR AR T
—NFEANA=ZTRZEENBEAHB RS H
& #E 5 5 A E G & BT (B A 49189,000,0004 T

ERIZERAR AR (RMDARSE:8021) REKEA
AEENERHBEREFIEMERE B
EREREMER SMIES PERRERH
BEEMzTE RIERE BEEK FHLL
TRHME BHEREEXEBREEEEEG -RER
T \FAA=Z+HILFEAELEE Y EIREE
AR -REE=E—\F+A=+—BIEXE
RARERKRER A A B E B F5 R 423,000,000
B -RIBEZERERERAFR-ZZE—NF+
A=+—B2&aNBEEMKHRE ERER
B ANFE(L & EF (B A #1687,000,0007# 7T

TEBEAX N EEARAQE (KRHAR:0802)
FEWBRAREERE()UHEERE (i) E
R R (i) IR BB R (iv)RFID 2R
FTRME: (v ERBRBETHRAE R(Vi)E
MEFEZzZRE - RBEE=_ZT—N\FALA=1+AL
FEAEBTERREMBRE -RBEE=_T—N
FERNA=THLEANEAERRESE ARIGEE
58 /3 478,000,000 T - B P EE AR N EE
BERARRZZ—NEANA=1THBZ &%
RANBHRE HREFRBEABRGEEFZTERY
578,000,000/ 7T °

NEED #312,965,4138 T (—F — 4
475,990,851 ) IR A R Bt AR BRE 2 W
BERE FAASEERNENITRERIENE
R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P MR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2018 &1Z —Z— \FNAA=THILFE

21.

22.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. RERBESEEY
Cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits of RekE2EEYEREERRITMSNEFEZ
HK$56,862,337 (2017: HK$52,151,520) at prevailing market % HA R 17 1 3056,862,337 B Tt (T — & :
rate. 52,151,520/87C) °
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 2. MEETHELENBEZHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAMASERETHEENAGE D BF
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash RekFReEYH - RETHELENEERR S
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are NECHXRRESREERAEEGERESRE
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will XOEARMETDMERERENAE
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flow as cash flows from financing activities.
Interest-
bearing
borrowings
STEEE
HK$
BT
At 1 October 2017 R=Z—tF+HA—H 10,000,000
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERELH:
Repayment of bonds EEES (11,000,000)
Other changes: Hih %5 :
Bond interest expenses BHEMNERZ 1,000,000
At 30 September 2018 R=ZE-N\FhLA=1+H -
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23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

23 Htb BN RERETER

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$ HK$

BT PETT

Margin payables R FRRIEA 7,060,552 13,499,647
Accruals EETEHR 8,882,663 10,275,452
15,943,215 23,775,099

Margin payables bear interest rates ranged from 8% to 11%
(2017: 8% to 10%) per annum for the Year. The margin
payables are secured by financial assets at FVTPL, repayable
on demand and are guaranteed by the Company on behalf of
a subsidiary.

24. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Interest-bearing borrowings represent the bond that was fully
repaid during the Year.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. R
Number of Number of
ordinary shares ordinary shares
of HK$0.005 each of HK$0.025 each Amount
SREE SREA
0.005 T2 0.0258 T2
EER¥A EEBR¥A HE
Notes HK$
Mz BT
Authorised: ERE!
At 1 October 2016 RZZE—"E+A—AH 40,000,000,000 - 200,000,000
Share consolidation R a s (a) (40,000,000,000) 8,000,000,000 -
At 30 September 2017 and RZE—+ENA=THEEK
1 October 2017 “E—+t5+A-AH - 8,000,000,000 200,000,000
At 30 September 2018 RZE-\ENA=TH - 8,000,000,000 200,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 October 2016 RZZ—"E+A—AH 3,130,603,123 - 15,653,016
Exercise of share options TR E (b) 313,000,000 = 1,565,000
Share consolidation Riha G (a) (3,443,603,123) 688,720,624 =
Issue of rights shares AR 317 (c) = 2,066,161,872 51,654,046
At 30 September 2017 and RZE—t+tFNA=TAK
at 1 October 2017 RZE—tF+A—H - 2,754,882,496 68,872,062
At 30 September 2018 R=ZE-\ENA=FH - 2,754,882,496 68,872,062
Notes: Hfat -
(a) With effect from 8 February 2017, every five (5) issued and (@) BEZZE—tF-ANRE BRAG)KRIKREE

unissued shares of the Company of HK$0.005 each were
consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of the Company of
HK$0.025 each.

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved
and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 10 December 2013 (the “Option Scheme”),
unless otherwise cancelled or amended subject to resolution
passed at general meeting of the Company the Option Scheme
will remain in force for ten years from 10 December 2013. As
at 30 September 2018, the remaining life of the Option Scheme
was approximately 5 years and 3 months. Detail of the Option
Scheme are disclosed in the Report of the Directors.

0.005B T2 ARBIEBITRABITRMNDEHA—
(1) % Z IR 1H0.0257 0 2 AN A Rl & HFAR 15 ©

(b) ARBZHAEEEEAZIER-_FT—=F+-4
THERETZERBFRE LERFRBRIUER
Ry (THEARERT )  RIESTRARFRER
B LEBBRBRTHBERT B RIEIRE B
BE-E—=Ft+t-_AtBERFTFA-—EBAR-
BE_Z-/A\FAA=TH BREIHOFH
FHORAF=EA -BREFIZFBERES

BWMENRE-
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

During 2017, 313,000,000 share options were granted to
advisors of the Company on 21 November 2016 and fully
exercised on 28 November 2016 at a price of HK$0.118 each.
The share price on the date of exercised was HK$0.13.

The total fair value of share options granted was HK$3,881,200
determined by using the Binomial Pricing Model and the

Company recognised total expenses of HK$3,881,200 in 2017.

Fair value of share options and assumptions:

— Fair value of option per share 0.0124
— Exercise price per share 0.118
— Share price at grant date 0.118
— Options life 2 years
— Risk-free rate 0.770%
— Dividend yield 0.00%
— Volatility 113%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of
the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information.

Save as disclosed above, no share options were granted,
lapsed, exercised or expired under the Option Scheme since
10 December 2013. There was no outstanding share options
under the Option Scheme at the end of the year.

On 15 March 2017, the Company completed the rights issue
(“Rights Issue”) on the basis of three rights shares for every
one existing shares held on 17 February 2017. 2,066,161,872
rights shares were issued at price of HK$0.20. Gross rights
proceeds of HK$413,232,373 of which HK$51,654,046 was
credited against share capital. The remaining proceeds of
HK$361,578,327 after offsetting the share issuance costs of
HK$7,000,901 were credited against the share premium account.
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25. BR& ()
#it: (%)

(b)

(#8)

R-ZZT—+%E 313,000,000 ERER_-Z
—RNE+—AZ+—BEFEARARANBERIR=F
—RNET—AZFTN\BESR.M8HB T BIRE
BEIATE - RITEBRHZRER013ET -

it LR 2 A A B4 % 53,881,200 7T
DEA—EEEEREAEE BEARRRZE
—t FEHERRF X 4£%93,881,200/ 7T

BREEZAEBRER:

—SOBEREZAAE 0.0124
—FRITEE 0.118
—RRE B2 ARE 0.118
— % AR 4 £ 1 2%F
—EE kA & 0.770%
—RE X 0.00%
— R IE 113%

185060 V8 70 $2 I 2 0RO (IR W AR 88 T 2 A T
WERHE) AREGH Y HERABHTEER
Fi 18 MR IR B 2 (TR R B e % -

BREXREBEEN BT —Z=ZFt_At+HE"

JER N AFRER - B8R T IA & RITE
2 BBRE

R-ZE—+tHE=A+HB AR THRER =
T—tF_A+LtHEHEE - BREARMHER
SRERBRG 2 EEETER (THR]) AR
A]120.207% T 2 (B 18 % 172,066,161,872 % 4 %
f& 17 o 4 B BT 15 FX TH 48 58 8413,232,373% 7T
H 51,654,046 7Tt AR o Fl s FT 15 R IA
361,578,327 JT 4% 1K 84 A% {5 3% 77 AKX 457,000,901
BB ARD B ERR -
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26.

27.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the
net asset value of the Group as at 30 September 2018 of
HK$735,554,038 (2017: HK$980,246,091) and on the number
of 2,754,882,496 ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each in issue
as at 30 September 2018 (2017: 2,754,882,496 ordinary
shares of HK$0.025 each).

In the course of preparation of this report, the value of the
Group’s unlisted investments decreased by net amount
of approximately HK$41.8 million, included in which were
principally impairment losses on investments in Kendervon
Profits Inc. and Merit Advisory Limited of approximately
HK$24.4 million and HK$10.1 million respectively, with
reference to independent valuation reports and other
information of the unlisted investments (collectively
the “Information of the Unlisted Investments”). As the
Information of the Unlisted Investments was obtained
by the Company after 12 October 2018, the date of the
Company’s announcement titled “Net Asset Value” (the
“NAV Announcement”), the net asset value per share of
the Company as at 30 September 2018 decreased from
HK$0.2830 as stated in the NAV Announcement to HK$0.2670
as stated in this report.

RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

(a) Related party transactions
In addition to those disclosed in other sections of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered
into the following transactions with related parties and
connected parties during the year:

26.

27.

BREEFE
EREEFENBEASERZ-_ZE—NFNA
= t+HZ2EEFEMET?35,554,038 8B 0 (T —+
#:980,246,0918 L) kR ZFE—N\FNLA=1
H 22,754,882,496/% & % M {80.025/8 T~ & %
TEBEKR (2T —+%:2,754,882,496/% F I m
E0.025/ 8 2 EiMmAR ) 5T & ©

RERABRENBEF AEEFLTREZ
BEFFER A FFEL41,800,0008 T HR 2
PRESEBIGHERSRIELTEE 2 Hib
BER (B 3ELMZEEER]) 2R Kendervon
Profits Inc. & Merit Advisory Limited 2 & & J&l (&
&5 18 5 Bl 4J24,400,0007% 7T % 10,100,000/% JT °
HRAREIRZZE—NEF+A+=Z8 (KA FE
ERIBEFEIZAG([EEFERSE]) TI#
HH)EITMSIELTMREER ARFARZFE
—N\FNA=ZTHZEREEFEHEEFER
& NPTt 2 0.28307% T F& 2 AR & Fr il 2 0.2670
PETT 0

FAEALRBAERS

(a) BEALRS
BRESEVBERREMEMEERESEIN
RERNAEEHEBEEL RBAEALETZ
RSMWT

2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+tF
Notes HK$ HK$
k33 BT & IT
Continuing operations FESEEK
Insight Capital Management (HK) Limited Insight Capital Management
(“Insight HK") (HK) Limited
(TInsight HK |)
Investment management fee paid EfIEEERE (i) 150,000 600,000
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited Bt KFEH(HH)BR A A
("CES") (THExA])
Investment management fee paid BENREERE (ii) 450,000 -
600,000 600,000
Discontinued operation BT
CNI Bullion Limited (“CNI Bullion”) PRI SREERAA
(THRBEIEFeRE])
Interest income received 2 U F B YA (i) - 1,345,813
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27. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Insight HK is an investment manager of the Company
and considered as a connected person under 14A.08 of
Chapter 21 of the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. Pursuant to
an investment agreement (“Insight HK Agreement”) dated
17 October 2014 entered into between the Company and
Insight HK, Insight HK agreed to provide the Company
with investment management services (excluding general
administrative services) commencing from 21 October
2014.

The Company and Insight HK have mutually agreed to
terminate the investment management agreement with
effect from 1 January 2018. There is no penalty and/or
compensation to any parties in relation to the termination
of the Insight HK Agreement.

(i) CES is an investment manager of the Company and
considered as a connected person under 14A.08 of
Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to an investment
agreement (“CES Agreement”) dated 29 December 2017
entered into between the Company and CES, CES agreed
to provide the Company with investment management
services (excluding general administrative services)
commencing from 1 January 2018. Pursuant to its terms,
CES Agreement is renewable automatically for successive
periods of three years each upon expiry unless terminated
by either party serving not less than three months’ prior
notice in writing to the other party. Currently the monthly
investment advisory fee is HK$50,000. There will be
no performance fee payable to CES under the CES
Agreement.

(iii)  Equity interest in CNI Bullion decreased to 19.8% during
2017. The Group no longer has significant influence over
CNI Bullion, upon completion of disposal of 34% equity of
Kendervon which holds 30% equity interest in CNI Bullion
(see note 13). For the year ended 30 September 2017, the
interest income received from CNI Bullion represented the
interest income for the period from 1 October 2016 to the
completion date of disposal of CNI Bullion. The advance
to CNI Bullion was unsecured, interest-bearing at 8% per
annum and was repayable on demand.
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2T. BEATRBEXRS (#)

(a) BEAE
Hiat:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

ALTXRZ (8)

Insight HK AX AR 2 RE BB A WIRE
B EES EmARA (T ETRAE21E
E14A.08IG IR A —BHEA LT - BEBEAR
A Insight HKETX BEf A - —MF+ A
+EBZ&EHZE (Insight HK %) -
Insight HKRER =-Z—MF+A=+—H
BRAADFREREEERYE (—RITHBAR
TEBRAN) o

AA A EInsight HKE X BB EKRIEREE
Bip# AT /\F—A—BRER-#
#1FInsight HKip@m s & HH9HBA
AESR R LA R B E -

FTEARBARBAZREEEAN URE L
MBI E21% F14A.081K 15 B — B &
AL -RIBEAARERBEXKRTIAR/ -
Z—tFF+-_A-thBz&EERZ ([
B RH#E])  PERARAEA T —\F
—A—HERAARARRHEREERRYE (—
RRATEARIERRIN) o ARBEAGK - hEIE KRB
FORERREBELH=F EER—TA
ME—FEHTPR=EAZEEETD B
FLOARIE-RET AR E BN & /50,0008
T RBEFEXABH BTEEHAEAEK
XRRE -

R-T—+EFEREI S REZRE TR
%19.8% ° R 5EAL H & Kendervon (& &
fR B L 75 & 9R 3 2 30% R #E (R FE13) )
234% R AEBETBEHPHEILS R
EEABAYE-HE_Z—+tHENLA=T
BIEEE AR EtHSBEREZFE MK
ATREZZE—A"FTA—REHEPHIL
78R FE TR B HA AR URER 2 B BURA © )
REEFSREFELE ZEMNRAERR &
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27. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors, who are also members of
key management, during the Year 2018 and 2017 was as
follows:

Short-term benefits 5 HAIE A

2T. BEATRBEXRS (#)

(b) TEEBEABZHE
R-B—\R-B—t5E HEEERE
EEBEREZABZHENT

2018 2017
—2-Nf e
HK$ HK$

P e
1,500,000 1,293,333

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors,
the above related party transactions were entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business on
normal commercial terms and were in accordance with
the terms of the arrangements governing the transactions
that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

28. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 30 September 2018, the Group had pledged the following
assets to secure the margin payables:

EERTERTBABZME I AFMER
S2REMALZRARTSBEEE -

BYFNTEFTRAR LIHBEALZRS
TTRASEENBEEREFEBBIETRR
—REBHRFTETREETEERRARS
2GR MBERGERBRFAE LB
MAEARARRABEAE -

28. EEHEH
R-F—\FAA=+A REEEKFTIE
EFARNFRIEZER:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+ &

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Financial assets at FVTPL BEARBEF ABRRECHEEE 312,965,413 475,990,851
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29.

30.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution MPF Scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employee’s basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss of HK$80,518 (2017: HK$68,085) represents
contributions payable to the schemes by the Group in respect
of the current financial Year.

PENDING LITIGATION

In HCA 1700/2011, since the legal representative of the
Company filed the defence on behalf of the Company in
December 2011, for more than 7 years, the Plaintiff has not
taken any further steps at all in respect of the proceedings.
The said law suit was taken out by Mr. Chan Ping Yee (the
“Plaintiff”) and involves a dishonoured cheque issued by
the Company for the amount of HK$39,000,000 allegedly
payable to the Plaintiff. The law suit came about because
there was an intended transaction which eventually fell
through. It has always been the view of the Company’s legal
representative that the Plaintiff’'s claim is totally without
ground. The Company had taken legal advice and has already
given instructions to their legal representative to make an
application to strike out the claim with costs, for (1) lack
of merits of the claim, and (2) want of prosecution. Such
application will be made in due course, and the Company will
keep the shareholders informed on the status of this matter.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Board is aware,
there are no litigation or arbitration proceedings made or
threatened to be made against the Company, which would
have a significant impact on the business or operations of
the Company. No provision was made for the year ended
30 September 2018.
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29.

30.

iR K 18 I 5T &
AEERBEREMEABSHERIREERSE
BESFHEZEERI —TAERENREERE -
HRADIRBEBREZEAFECANLLAE IR
BZRBESHECRANENSERABERA
Hk-ZaEetBzEER —EBIEEEAS
KA BAEEZEENREE -AEBEZREE
HRRARESHEERIB 2B EREERA -

REEBRRERNBK 2EKA80,518BT (=F
+F:68,0858 L) EASER AU B FER
& ERT BN 2 k-

FIRFR

BBHCA 1700/20115% 5F 72 - B R R EER R K
REARBR =T ——F+ZAARHER
JR &8 F AR B SR AT SR AR (T — &
118) o il ;A7 FFFAFH Chan Ping Yee /L4 ([/R
EDRE - WP REBERRESZN—RAQA
% H ") 4 %8 /539,000,000 TTHI AR AEAR N T = o
EEZERFDIER —HAREETZIRHHK

BEARBERARBBRERTERBRENR

BREERZIEE - EN(1)EBRRRREDER
R (2) RABREFHEAELITE  ARBEHHE
RERYUEREARAKRP B BEHE LR Fh
ERAREARE - ZRFHRNEERKREL &
ARABHAERRABAFR MM

BRERBEEEN BEFEMAME  ARARALE
ESREREMNEHARAEBREEENE
AREEBNHALFREF - BE-T-N\FLA
=T HIEFELEREE -
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31.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

3. AR FHBMRR K

COMPANY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current assets SEREEE
Plant and equipment = &% = =
Interests in subsidiaries RIBAR 2 e 47 47
Available-for-sale investments AREERE 30,000,000 57,123,000
30,000,047 57,123,047
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - 12e REMEWKIA
other receivables 10,956,559 22,864,732
Financial assets at fair value through BARBFABREEUBKEE
profit or loss 32,900,000 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries A N ENGIE ¢ 666,878,977 853,351,240
Tax recoverable A] Y (=] B IR = 3,417,602
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREEEY 14,519,137 20,396,730
725,254,673 900,030,304
Current liabilities mEBAaE
Other payables and accruals HEN KB NEER 2,521,381 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries R NGIE ] 54,107,582 2,414,171
56,628,963 2,414,171
Net current assets mENEEFE 668,625,710 897,616,133
Total assets less current liabilities BEERLBAE 698,625,757 954,739,180
Non-current liabilities ERBAGE
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE - 10,000,000
Net assets BEFE 698,625,757 944,739,180
Capital and reserves BEAR R i#E
Share capital A% AR 68,872,062 68,872,062
Reserves & 629,753,695 875,867,118
Total equity attributable to RAGIRER:B ARG ERETE
equity holders of the Company 698,625,757 944,739,180

Chan Cheong Yee
CH=F 5
Director

EF

Kong Fanpeng
FL L8
Director

EF
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32. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 32. X Elf#fE
Retained
Capital Share Investment profits/
Share reduction options revaluation (accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
REE/
REE B A A k1 BRERE REEMRE (REHER) it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B BT BT BT BT
At 1 October 2016 RZE-~%1+A-H 925,217,428 22,826,010 - - 14,162,694 962,206,132
Loss for the year AEEER - - - ~ (482,936,699) (482,936,699
Other comprehensive income A& £t 2 E
for the year - - - 2,770,059 - 2,770,059
Total comprehensive loss TEEZEBREER
for the year . . . 2770059 (482,936,699)  (480,166,640)
Grant of share options RERE
(Note 25(b)) (Hiz250)) - = 3,881,200 = = 3,881,200
Exercise of share options TSR IE (f7:2250))
(Note 25(5)) 35,369,000 - (3,881,200) - 3,881,200 35,369,000
Issue of ordinary shares by~ BUAER 73L& 4T
right issue (Note 25(c)) LBR (Hz25(c)) 361,578,327 - - - - 361,578,327
Share issue expenses BA%TER
(Note 25(c)) (B:225(c)) (7,000,901) - - - - (7,000,901)
At 30 September 2017 RIZ—+%
NA=1H 1,315,163,854 22,826,010 - 2,770,059 (464,892,805) 875,867,118
At 1 October 2017 WZE—t&+A—-H  1,315163,854 22,826,010 - 2,770,059 (464,892,805) 875,867,118
Loss for the year AEEER - - - o (243,343364)  (243,343.364)
Other comprehensive loss ~ AFE R ZEEE
for the year - - - (2,770,059) - (2,770,059)
Total comprehensive loss TEEREBRES
for the year - - - (2,770,059)  (243,343.364)  (246,113,423)
At 30 September 2018 RZZ-N\E
NA=+H 1,315,163,854 22,826,010 - - (708,236,169) 629,753,695
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32. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in share premium account are distributable to
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Capital reduction reserve

The capital reduction reserve is derived after setting off
of the capital reduction with the accumulated losses as
at the date of the capital reorganization of the Company
which became effective on 8 February 2013.

Distributability of reserves

At 30 September 2018 and 2017, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for the distribution to the owners
of the Company calculated in accordance with the
laws of the Cayman Islands was HK$629,753,695 and
HK$873,097,059 respectively.

32. X EfREE (#)

(i)

(i)

IR 43 7 18 B
BROEBRZERAXASHSRREMR
ERERAESHEARA BNGERZE
EADIRFARBRR AIIRRAARER
BEERREREAMRADARNERR
BREEBBRERIBNZER-

JR A< Bl R 1o 48

BRAHIR R BT RN AR B BRAEA (R
—E-=FZANBER) BB BRAHDR
RRFEBERESH -

(iii) B2 7 2K

RZF-NFR-ZF-—EFAA=1THE R
BASHSAMFEAHD IR T AR B HE
BAZ @HEBED 5 5629,753,695% T &
873,097,059 7T
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33. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at
30 September 2018 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation,”
registration

Class of and operations
Name shares held  ZEMHR L,/
£ FERAERN BEREHEBY
Concolor Holdings Limited Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong
TRk ERELHES/BE
Ethnocentric Investment Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong
Limited Rl EBRRHS /S
Like Capital Limited Ordinary Hong Kong
BEERBRAA B £
Huge Energy Holdings Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong
Limited Rl EBREAES/ B
REERARAT
Smart Able Holdings Limited Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong
BRERARAT Bk HBRAEB/BE
Extra One Investments Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong
Limited LAk EBREAEB/ B

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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3. XEMEBAF
R-ZFE—N\FARAZ+A AAAMKEZHB

RAEIZFHBEWT
Nominal value a
of issued share of equity
and fully paid attributable to
share capital the Company Principal activities
ERITROEE ADRELRL
RERKRAE REBEDL TEEY
Directly Indirectly
B %

US$1 100% - Investment holding

1E7T REER

US$1 100% - Investment holding

(E REER

HK$3 - 100% Investments of listed

3BT securities and
unlisted bonds in
Hong Kong

REREBZ L TES

Rk EmER

US$1 100% - Investment holding

(E REER

US$1 100% - Investment holding

(E REER

US$1 100% - Investment holding

(E REZR

FRINEARARNEERRIEFERAEEHEEN
BEZASENBAR -EFZRA/IHHEAMNE

REHE ESLERRES LK
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34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee
The Group leases its offices under operating lease
arrangements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

34. MERWARE
AEEEREBA
REGERORH AEEREETHAE.

PR BIR - AN E R AT B RS fE o 2 S AT
REBOERRZZEHRESAEWT:

2018 2017

—E-)N\F —E—+tF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within one year —F R 133,100 134,200
In the second to fifth year, inclusive F_FEERFT(BEEEMTE) - 121,000

Lease for rented premise are negotiated for an average of two
years and rental are fixed for an average of two years.

HEVMEHONEHZRTHLSME  MEDZ N
TR FHIEE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MR

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last five financial years/period, as extracted from the

audited financial statements, is set out as follows:

AEBRERLERYBRER2BERMABBHFE/
MRz TEXE EEHRABHEHIIMT

RESULTS e
Fifteen months
Year ended Year ended Year ended ended Year ended
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 June
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“2-N\% —T—tF —E-RF —T-hfF —T-mE
AAStA  AA=TR  AA=tE  AA=tAR  #A=TA
LEE IEFE IEFE E+HREAR ILEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Turnover EEH (179,754,212)  (514,825,909)  (235,969,328) 406,671,315 136,230,385
(Loss)/profit before tax WA (B1B) /&7 (244,421,994)  (577,951,816)  (265,561,083) 358,403,182 60,360,411
Income tax (expense)/credit FEH (AX) /8% - (10,065,716) 58,555,454 (60,922,203) 12,204,732
(Loss)/profit for the year/period attributable KA AR fEH B A
to equity holders of the Company EL 2/ H5r
(B1]) /B (244,421,994)  (588,017,532)  (207,005,629) 297,480,979 72,565,143
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 June
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\F —E—tF —ERE —T-h%F g a3
AA=1H NA=+H NA=+H NA=+H ~NA=TH
HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
Total assets BEE 751,497,253  1,014,021,190  1,230,257,810  1,633,577,444 751,912,182
Total liabilities BaE (15,943,215)  (33,775,099)  (108,965,838)  (299,667,173)  (65,700,698)
Total equity attributable to holders of ARRIRERAA
the Company equity EIE 735,554,038 980,246,091  1,121,291,972  1,333,910,271 686,211,484
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